
 

 
 

Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

 
 
Date Monday 16 November 2020 

Time 9.30 am 

Venue Remote Meeting - This meeting is being held 
remotely via Microsoft Teams 

 
 

Business 
 

Part A 
 
 

Items which are open to the Public and Press 
Members of the public can ask questions with the Chair’s 

agreement, and if registered to speak 
 
 
1. Apologies   

2. Substitute Members   

3. Minutes of the Meeting held on 3 September 2020  (Pages 5 - 12) 

4. Declarations of Interest, if any   

5. Any Items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties   

6. Environmental Campaigns Update   

 a) Report of Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and 
Climate Change  (Pages 13 - 18) 

 b) Presentation by Head of Environment  (Pages 19 - 46) 

7. Bereavement Services   

 a) Report of Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and 
Climate Change  (Pages 47 - 62) 

 b) Presentation by Neighbourhood Protection Manager and 
Bereavement Services Manager  (Pages 63 - 80) 

8. Overview of Household Waste Management   

 a) Report of Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and 
Climate Change  (Pages 81 - 86) 



 b) Presentation by Head of Environment  (Pages 87 - 104) 

9. Quarter One 2020/2021 Budget Forecast   

 a) Report of the Corporate Director of Resources  (Pages 105 - 
114) 

 b) Presentation by the Finance Manager - Neighbourhoods and 
Climate Change  (Pages 115 - 120) 

10. Performance Management 2020/2021 Quarter One - Report of 
Corporate Director of Resources  (Pages 121 - 134) 

11. County Durham Environment Partnership Minutes from the 
meeting on 11 March 2020  (Pages 135 - 142) 

12. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration   

 
 
 

Helen Lynch 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

 
County Hall 
Durham 
6 November 2020 
 
 
To: The Members of the Environment and Sustainable 

Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

 Councillor E Adam (Chair) 
Councillor O Milburn (Vice-Chair) 
 

 Councillors B Avery, A Batey, D Bell, L Brown, J Carr, B Coult, 
R Crute, S Dunn, A Gardner, K Hawley, T Henderson, 
J Higgins, C Kay, L Maddison, R Manchester, I McLean, 
A Simpson, P Sexton and M Wilson 

 
Co-opted Members: 

 
Mr T Bolton and Mrs P Holding  
 
 

 

Contact: Paula Nicholson Tel: 03000 269710 

 



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 
At a Meeting of Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee held remotely via Microsoft Teams on Thursday 3 
September 2020 at 9.30 am 
 
 
Present: 
 

Councillor E Adam (Chair) 

 

Members of the Committee: 

Councillors O Milburn, A Batey, D Bell, L Brown, M Clarke, B Coult, R Crute, 
S Dunn, T Henderson, C Kay, L Maddison, I McLean, A Simpson and M Wilson 
 
Co-opted Members: 

Mr T Bolton 
 
Also Present: 

Councillor B Stephens 

 

 
 
 

1 Apologies  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors K Hawley, J Higgins, R 
Manchester, P Sexton and Mrs P Holding. 
 

2 Substitute Members  

 
Councillor M Clarke substituted for Councillor R Manchester. 
 

3 Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meetings held on 9 and 16 March 2020 were agreed as a correct 
record and would be signed by the Chair. 
 

4 Declarations of Interest  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



5 Any items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties  
 
There were no items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties. 
 

6 The response of Neighbourhoods and Climate Change to the 
 Coronavirus Pandemic  
 
The Committee considered the Report of the Corporate Director for 
Neighbourhoods and Climate Change that provided Members with a summary of 
the actions that the Neighbourhoods and Climate Change Service had taken, 
working with partners, to respond to the COVID-19 pandemic (for copy of report and 
presentation, see file of minutes). 
 
Mr A Patrickson, Corporate Director for Neighbourhoods and Climate Change was 
in attendance to present the report and deliver a presentation.  
 
Members were advised that this was a new directorate that came together in early 
April 2020, during the middle of the pandemic.  
 
He indicated that the response of the council, in particular the staff of the council, 
trade unions, partners and contractors that the council worked with throughout the 
pandemic was something that the council should be proud of. People had come 
together in an incredible way to resolve problems and keep vital services going, in 
some cases delivering new services that were required in response to the 
pandemic. 
 
He then referred to Environment Services, particularly Refuse and Recycling that 
had collected from 250,000 households every week. They needed to ensure that the 
fundamental refuse and if possible, recycling services remained in operation as they 
could not allow the build-up of waste as it would create a public health issue if 
refuse remained uncollected. The service were able to maintain the refuse and 
recycling service in a manner that was safe to staff across the whole county, on the 
normal timetable, using a number of staff who were redeployed into refuse and 
recycling. They needed to ensure that there was somewhere to take the refuse and 
recycling that was collected and were in daily contact with the contractor, Suez to 
ensure that they were still operational and had plans in place. The service also 
worked closely with the recycling contractor, Biffa to ensure that the recycling 
collected could be taken to their facility. 
 
He then referred to the garden waste collection service that was initially suspended 
at the start of lockdown because of insufficient resource. However, the service was 
reinstated following the redeployment of staff from other services and the decision 
being taken to move garden waste collections to Saturdays and Mondays, when 
refuse and recycling services were not operational. The Corporate Director advised 
that a number of residents took advantage of the garden waste service during the 
lockdown and that although, refunds were available there had been very few refund 

Page 4



requests received and in fact take up of the garden waste service had increased. 
Customers had been advised that the service would continue until the end of 
November and any missed collections would be added to the 2021 season for 
customers who renewed. 
 
Members were informed that the Fleet Maintenance service had continued to work 
throughout the lockdown period ensuring that all Durham County Council vehicles 
were maintained and roadworthy. 
 
Household Waste Recycling Centres (HWRCs) were suspended in March and all 
sites were closed in accordance with the government’s coronavirus regulations. The 
service worked with the contractor to get ready for when they could reopen to 
ensure that customers felt safe and that social distancing could be applied on the 
sites, but the contractor had similar issues with their supply chain too in that some 
were not operating. The government regulations were subsequently amended, 
allowing HWRCs to open on the 13 May 2020. While some local authorities had 
chosen to open their HWRCs immediately Durham County Council waited another 
week and considered the issues that had arisen in other local authorities in opening 
their HWRCs, such as the need for traffic management plans. County Durham 
HWRCs opened on 18 May with traffic management plans in place to ensure that 
the sites were not interfering with the highway and residents could access them 
safely. Work was continuing on how HWRCs can get back to normal.  
 
The contract with Suez comes to an end in 2025 and the Council were now working 
in partnership with 6 other local authorities to look at a joint procurement post 2025. 
Work on this project had continued during lockdown. 
 
In relation to Parks and Open Spaces members were advised that Durham County 
Council chose that all of their parks and open spaces would remain open to enable 
residents to exercise but play equipment would be locked, services were maintained 
but scaled back. 
 
The winter bedding schedule was slightly knocked back but safe working practices 
for horticultural staff were established so the bedding plants were used to provide 
some floral tributes and displays at significant roundabouts and other places 
throughout the county that were appreciated by the public. 
 
All play areas and equipment were then risk assessed and were open by the end of 
July 2020. Playing pitches were reopening and the service was in the process of 
risk assessing and opening the associated pavilions and the historical site at 
Binchester had now reopened. 
 
A number of other Environmental Services needed to continue during lockdown 
including Bereavement services where some significant changes were made in 
relation to the interface with the public, health service and public health. Careful 
planning and monitoring of the service mitigated the huge impact on this service but 

Page 5



services had been stretched however there was support from a large number of 
volunteers and redeployed staff which enabled the service to continue. 
 
The neighbourhood wardens were redeployed into many different areas of the 
service as they often work in pairs and this could not be maintained for social 
distancing reasons.  
 
Pest control saw an increase in domestic calls and staff were redeployed in this 
area to support.  
 
Members learned that work continued on climate change projects and they 
managed to attract funding through lockdown. The Corporate Director highlighted 
that this is an especially important area of his service and reassured members that 
although many staff were working from home they had managed to keep in contact 
with contractors and funders and were able now to put this work into practice. 
 
Environmental Health Officers were very busy working closely with colleagues in 
Public Health as outbreak and infection control, is part of their role however this had 
significantly increased as a result of the pandemic.  
 
A coronavirus help line was established where members of the public or businesses 
could call for advice or ask questions on the coronavirus guidance relating to 
environmental health issues. 
 
Trading Standards were also responsible for helping businesses and providing 
enforcement for those businesses who did not comply with coronavirus regulations 
although these numbers were very low in the County. 
 
As we come out of lockdown Environmental Health Officers were working closely 
with Public Health England and our local public health services to manage the local 
outbreak control plan. 
 
In relation to Community Protection services the Corporate Director highlighted how 
this service had enforced COVID-19 compliance, provided support to businesses 
and managed and controlled local outbreaks. The service had issued 13 prohibition 
notices in relation to COVID compliance concerns. The service had received 2053 
nuisance complaints during lockdown that were largely due to noise and smoke. 
The service had supported businesses in relation to compliance advise and had 
created a Community Resilience Team to investigate local outbreaks and enforce 
direction to close premises. 
 
The Corporate Director then referred to Technical Services and that the decision 
was made at the start of lockdown to suspend all but emergency and time critical 
repairs for the highway teams until safe working practices could be put into place. 
Members were advised that in consultation with the trade unions a three week 
rolling review was put in place, risk assessments had taken place and new signage 

Page 6



was made to give the public reassurance. Members were advised that work had 
taken place with the trade unions and health and safety before putting staff back to 
work on highways projects. Staff had worked alone or in teams of two. In April work 
started on highway schemes and now highways maintenance staff were fully back 
at work and there was only a three week delay on projects. 
 
Members were advised of the Health and Safety implications and that the highways 
crews worked very closely together and were visible with site and vehicle signage to 
advise that they were Durham County Council employees and that they were 
delivering essential highway services. Staff were provided with training before 
getting back to work which had been delivered in a staged manner. Members were 
provided with details of the key areas where activities resumed and that the 
highways programme was back up and running and were provided with details of 
some of the works that were ongoing including Junction 61 at Bowburn Interchange, 
New Elvet Bridge, Witton Park Bridge and Chester le Street De-Culverting. 
 
The Highways team had also got involved in the PPE Distribution Cell that was set 
up at Chilton Depot that enabled the Council to receive and distribute PPE on behalf 
of the Local Resilience Forum (LRF) as well as the Council. 
 
Partnerships and Community Engagement service were busy throughout lockdown 
and had created a community hub for residents who had issues with food collection 
and identified people who were considered vulnerable for various reason during 
lockdown. The service also created the COVID-19 volunteering unit to provide help 
to organisations such as the Coastguard, Fire Service and Refuse Café. COVID-19 
Emergency Relief Funding through AAPs and Member’s Neighbourhood Budgets 
was provided to 334 projects helping to sustain struggling Voluntary and Community 
Sector (VCS) groups and to provide vital support to help tackling isolation and 
accessing food. The Corporate Director also highlighted the work of the CCU in 
helping Durham County Council and the LRF to co-ordinate its efforts throughout 
the crisis. 
 
In conclusion Members were advised that we were not back to normal and services 
would continue to adapt and keep changing and look at the advice from Public 
Health and others to keep staff safe and to keep community services going as much 
as possible and support the local supply chain. 
 
The Chair thanked the Corporate Director for his very informative presentation and 
indicated that a lot of thanks needed to go to the staff and services but also the 
community that had been involved throughout the pandemic. Staff on the front line 
had gone the extra mile to ensure that the services continued to function without 
much disruption. He thanked those working on the front line and those working from 
home who had all done a fantastic job. 
 
The Chair then asked Members for their comments and questions. 
 

Page 7



Councillor Crute asked how well prepared the service was in looking ahead to 
mitigate the impact of in particular fuel poverty through various schemes across 
County Durham such as the Warm Homes Campaign and asked if the pandemic 
had disrupted any of the plans for these schemes. 
 
In response to the question Members were advised that the work done on helping 
homes to become more insulated and energy efficient was work that would be 
continuing. He also advised Members that a stock take had been carried out in April 
2020 on the emergency response plan and how many projects in the plan would 
see significant delays or potential delays due to the pandemic and was pleased to 
report that the stock take showed that very few of those projects in the long run 
would have significant delays. The projects that had incurred a delay were the 
projects where they needed to visit properties or interact with communities as this 
was not possible during the lockdown period, but these projects would be going 
ahead.  
 
In terms of preparation for some issues that might come to the authority during the 
winter period, corporately the council had been considering how County Durham 
Together can maintain the important work it had been undertaking. He mentioned 
during his presentation that the staff not only continued existing services but in 
some cases developed and devised and almost invented new services that this 
pandemic created a need for and that the County Durham Hub was a good 
example. The Corporate Director confirmed that the County Durham Hub would 
remain and that work was ongoing to ensure that it would be able to address some 
of the issues that they might be facing in winter and some of the issues they may be 
facing from a community point of view when the furlough scheme comes to an end. 
 
Councillor Maddison thanked the frontline workers that had operated during this 
period who had done an excellent job. She also wished to show her appreciation to 
Senior leadership teams that had been involved in the planning behind the scenes. 
She then referred to the work undertaken at Junction 61 that had caused very little 
disruption to traffic and thanked all the highways teams that had been involved with 
the project. She then referred to the transport links to the Amazon site and asked if 
a decision in relation to bus companies operating a service to bring people to the 
site, as a number of people relied on public transport and there was a good 
opportunity to improve the economic well-being for a lot of residents, if transport 
links could be put into place. 
 
Councillor Dunn wished to place on record his thanks to officers for the way they 
had coordinated the response across COVID-19. There had been a lot of people in 
need and vulnerable people and the way they were supported was outstanding. He 
also referred to Junction 61 and wished to thank the team in the way the work had 
progressed with minimal disruption for such a massive scheme on what is a very 
busy junction and that had allowed Amazon to open on time. In response to 
Councillor Maddison he advised that discussions had taken place with bus 
operators about extending services into Amazon but once staff were recruited 

Page 8



Amazon would be putting on a bus service to collect staff to take them to work 
rather than them having to bring cars. 
 
Councillor Kay echoed what had been said by his colleagues and commended the 
domestic waste collection team who had kept the streets clean and that nothing had 
been a problem for the crews. He then referred to the Witton Park Bridge which was 
a major crossing for the south of the county and asked if there was a time scale for 
the reopening and if it was going to be a twin lane crossing or still single 
carriageway. 
 
The Corporate Director thanked the councillor for his compliments on the waste 
collection service and indicated that they were operating in difficult times and many 
waste streams saw a dramatic increase during the pandemic period. 
 
Mr B Buckley, Strategic Highways Manager responded to the question in relation to 
the Witton Park Bridge and indicated that the first stage of the scheme was the 
demolition of the existing bridge, this stage was now complete and they were due to 
start the construction work on site. They were using the existing supports for the 
bridge so there was no scope to significantly widen the bridge for two-way traffic but 
there were some improvements. In terms of time scales they were aiming for an 
Autumn completion and that the scheme was a £2.5m scheme. 
 
The Chair thanked officers for their excellent work and the presentation that showed 
the committee the extent of the work that the council were doing. 
 
Resolved: (i) That the contents of the report be noted. 
 
(ii) That the Committee receive a further report on the response of Neighbourhoods 
and Climate Change Service Grouping on the COVID-19 Pandemic. 
 

7 Refresh of the Work Programme 2020/2021 - Report of Corporate 
 Director of Resources  
 
The Committee considered the report of the Corporate Director of Resources that 
provided Members with an updated work programme for 2020/21 (for copy of report, 
see file of minutes). 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Officer was in attendance to present the report and 
indicated that the work programme was designed to be flexible to accommodate 
items that may arise during the life of the work programme but it also provided an 
opportunity for the committee to respond to any further issues resulting from the 
COVID-19 pandemic. 
 
In responding to the requirements of virtual meetings the Chair and Vice Chair felt 
that it was important that the proposed work programme was prioritised, identifying 
items to be considered at formal committee and items to be considered via briefing 

Page 9



note. The committee would continue to receive quarterly budget and performance 
information. 
 
The Chair thanked the Officer for the report and indicated that it was difficult to fit 
everything into the work programme that they wanted this year and that the 
programme was fluid. 
 
Councillor Dunn referred to the ongoing activity with climate change which hadn’t 
been adversely affected which he was pleased to hear. He noted that it was not 
proposed to have a full discussion on climate change until March 2021 and asked if 
it would be possible to consider including a climate response report to the next 
meeting of the committee in addition to the March meeting. 
 
The Chair advised Councillor Dunn that officers had indicated that a briefing 
document would be circulated but it was not possible for the item to be brought 
forward to the November meeting. However, the item may be able to be brought 
forward to the January 2021 meeting. Although climate change was a priority 
COVID-19 remained a priority too and it was difficult to relax the COVID process 
until we know it was behind us. 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Officer advised that we do not know how many 
meetings the committee would have between January to April but we were working 
with officers to see if we could get the item brought forward to a sooner meeting and 
the climate change emergency response and carbon management plan were both 
highlighted as priorities. 
 
Mr T Bolton referred to fuel poverty and asked if that information could also include 
reference to the governments recently announced green energy scheme. 
 
The Chair responded that it was important that they had the latest information from 
government and would ask officers if they could include this information in their 
report. 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Officer responded that they had spoken to the Housing 
Regeneration Project Manager and asked him to include this information in his 
report. 
 
Resolved: That the work programme for 2020/21 be agreed. 
 

Page 10



 

             

       

 Environment and Sustainable 

Communities Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee  

16 November 2020 

Environmental Campaigns Update  

 

Report of Alan Patrickson, Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods 
and Climate Change 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide Members of the Environment & Sustainable Communities 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee with a progress report on 
environmental campaigns including fly tipping. 

Executive summary 

2 A high quality local environment can have a substantial beneficial 
impact on Council objectives of more and better jobs, long independent 
lives and connected communities.  

3 The Council has a strong track record in delivering environmental 
campaigns, often in partnership with a variety of community groups, that 
seeks to raise awareness of an issue, provide opportunities for local 
involvement, and where appropriate undertake enforcement as a 
deterrent for the minority who spoil our environment.  

4 Arrangements have been made for the Head of Environment to attend 
the meeting on the 16 November 2020 to provide more detail on four 
environmental campaigns: 

- Operation Stop It (Fly Tipping) 

-   In Bloom 

-  Operation Spruce Up 

- Find and Fix (replacing Spruce Up). 

 

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 6a



 

5 Whilst each campaign has different objectives, they all share the 
hallmarks of a common approach. In addition to an overview of each 
scheme, the presentation will give specific reference to issues arising 
due to COVID-19, and the recent work in combatting fly tipping.  

Recommendations 

6 That the Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee note and comment on the information provided in 
the report and presentation. 

Background 

7 The local environment is crucially important to quality of life in our 
communities. Residents regularly report issues and concerns to the 
Council, Area Action Partnerships, Town and Parish Councils and 
elected Members on a wide range of matters from dog fouling and 
littering, to graffiti and flytipping. Not only do these matters impact on 
community safety and fear of crime, but they are also recognised as 
forms of anti-social behaviour, which the British Crime Survey 
consistently identifies that resident’s feel is a big or fairly big problem in 
their area. 

8 Whilst the Council does deploy considerable resources through its clean 
and green teams in ensuring the County is clean and attractive as 
possible, it is recognised that behavioural change is the key to a more 
sustainable environment as well as lower costs. The civic pride 
approach in Durham, applied since Local Government Reorganisation 
(diagram below) utilises programmes of education/awareness and 
community involvement as a key foundation to its approach to 
environmental services. Operations and enforcement will always have a 
part to play, but their role is lessened, if this more holistic approach to 
the local environment is taken.  

 

 

Page 12



9 The common ingredients to each campaign are a task group to oversee 
the work, a communications plan, and a form of evaluation/performance 
measurement to establish if the aims are met. 

Operation Stop It 

10 The years that followed Local Government reorganisation saw a year by 
year reduction in fly tipping, until a rise in 2013/14.  In November 2014 
Operation ‘Stop It’ was established to tackle this in a multi-agency way 
and includes various DCC sections, Police, Environment Agency and 
Crimestoppers and it has 3 main aims: 

(a) to reduce the number of incidents 

(b) to target fly-tippers and; 

(c) educate householders and businesses to understand their 
responsibilities in making sure their waste is disposed of properly 

11 Since the start of Operation Stop It flytipping has reduced by 26% in 
comparison to the national picture that has seen incidents rise to nearly 
1 million each year. For financial year comparison between 2013/14 and 
2019/20 inclusive there has been a 28.3% reduction compared to an 
increase 20.5% nationally. 

12 COVID-19 has presented significant challenges to the service, as the 
volumes of household waste increased with “stay at home” (at its peak 
in May having 24.8% more recyclate and 17.3% more residual waste). 
Furthermore some services such as Household Waste Recycling 
Centres, garden waste and bulky waste collection were temporarily 
suspended, with neighbourhood wardens also redeployed to other 
services.  

13 In line with national trends fly-tipping increased during the year to date 
by approximately 5%. The presentation will cover the waste types 
identified (biggest increases in black bags), and the new initiatives to 
address the issues, utilising the now restored services, additional 
warden investments, and enforcement including seizure of vehicles 
linked to fly-tipping. Whilst not specifically fly –tipping, Members will also 
be updated on an e-learning course developed, and trialled for those 
caught with a littering offence, and wish for their fixed penalty notice 
level to be reduced. 

Operation Spruce Up and Find and Fix 

14 The presentation will cover both schemes. Spruce Up has been a highly 
successful multi service “deep clean” and refresh of a town or village 
nominated by their local Area Action Partnership. It involved teams from 

Page 13



clean and green, highways, building services, wardens and waste 
collection undertaking a concerted range of improvements in a selected 
area. Some 37 areas had the Spruce Up, and resulted in a range of 
improvements from bollards painted, to new street furniture, pathways 
cleared and revitalised landscaping.  

15 Key to the work, and the momentum that the monthly programme 
produced was that of community involvement. Advance planning often 
allowed school children to design posters in their area, and a wide 
range of businesses and community groups worked alongside Council 
teams in the week long scheme. 

16 Surveys undertaken after the spruce up saw on average a 90% 
recognition of the improvements made. The scheme has also gained 
national profile for instance, Keep Britain Tidy Campaign of the Year 
2019 (indeed Operation Stop It was successful in gaining the same 
award the previous year). 

17 Whilst Spruce Up allowed a focused effort in an area, there was 
considerable planning involved in each one. Find and Fix, a successor 
scheme is designed to be a similar approach but speedier through the 
deployment of four teams of three multi-skilled staff, who are able to 
proactively identify and tackle a wide range of tasks. They are guided by 
their own local knowledge of their areas, as well as complaints/service 
requests received by the Council, and in due course we will be opening 
up wider communication channels to the teams.  

18 Whilst a start has already been made (122 improvements across 22 
sites) we plan in the coming months that the teams are supplemented 
by apprentices and work placements, and in due course the local 
community. Whilst the improvements are small scale, they have 
nevertheless been greeted positively to date, the presentation will show 
some examples. 

In Bloom 

19 Members will already be aware of the prominence of In Bloom groups 
across County Durham. The Council works to support these groups 
through technical advice (where needed), grants (In Your 
Neighbourhood), and through support through the care and 
maintenance of public open spaces in the area, working as far as 
possible in collaboration with community requirements. 

20 The benefits of these schemes should not be seen as restricted to 
pretty flower displays, but rather an important means of expressing 
identity of towns and villages, and helping communities work together 
for the common good. 

Page 14



Impact of COVID-19 

21 Unfortunately many of our programmes of community work, including 
the Big Spring Clean needed to cease during lockdown. Staff in the 
Civic Pride Team that support much of this work were redeployed. 

22 A move towards normality began to occur from late Summer onwards, 
as litter picking and other equipment was loaned out to small groups, 
accompanied by social distancing advice. In Durham City, the long 
tradition of the  Beautiful Durham Garden competition  was able to go 
ahead (socially distanced) and whilst the annual ceremony not held, 
there was excellent feedback from a variety of residents and groups, 
once again proud to show their gardens and community sites. 
Countywide the Civic Pride Team also launched a “Garden Treasures” 
competition where residents were able to send in pictures that showed 
their hard work – over 50 entries were received. 

Conclusions  

23 We all have responsibility to care for our local environment and not spoil 
it by litter, graffiti or allowing dogs to foul. 

24 Environmental campaigns have proven a very successful mechanism of 
harnessing support from across the community in addressing local 
issues, and it is a formula that is set to continue, especially when the 
current pandemic is over. 

Background papers 

None 

Other useful documents 

None 

Contact: Oliver Sherratt Tel: 03000 269 259 

   

    

    

   

  

Page 15

Tel:03000


   

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

Not applicable 

Finance 

Not applicable 

Consultation 

Not applicable  

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Not applicable  

Human Rights 

Not applicable 

Climate Change 

Many of the campaigns promote environmental responsibility, including 

sustainable practices, use of materials and minimising waste. 

Crime and Disorder 

The environment and how it looks is linked to crime and disorder and working 

to ensure that Durham remains a clean and safe place helps contribute to this 

agenda. 

Staffing 

Not applicable 

Accommodation 

Not applicable 

Risk 

Not applicable 

Procurement 

Not applicable 

Page 16



Environmental

Campaigns

(and the impact of Covid 19)

Oliver Sherratt

Head of Environment

P
age 17

A
genda Item

 6b



Four Different Campaigns

Operation Stop It

In Bloom/Streetscene

Operation Spruce Up

Find and Fix

P
age 18



One Common Approach

ENFORCEMENT

DETERRENT

COUNCIL OPERATIONS

INVOLVEMENT/PARTICIPATION

EDUCATION/AWARENESS

P
age 19



Awareness: Stop It

Residents Potential 

Perpetrators

Builders

/Residents
All

P
age 20



Involvement: Stop It

P
age 21



Council Operations: Stop It

Public Confidence Partnership

IntelligenceTraining

P
age 22



Enforcement and communications: 

Stop It
78 FPNs Fly Tipping

92 Stop and Search

42 FPNs Waste Carriers

37 Prosecutions

P
age 23



How is Durham doing?

Note: yearend figures
- 28.3%  local reduction

+ 20.5 % national increase

P
age 24



Impact of Covid on fly tipping

• Impact on services

• Refuse collection

• HWRC's

• Neighbourhood Wardens

• Changing customer behaviour

• Staying at home

• No holidays

P
age 25



Impact of Covid - incidentsP
age 26



Impact of Covid – waste type

P
age 27



Impact of Covid - Response

• Services

• Restoration of services (Bulkies, HWRC's & Wardens)

• Education & awareness

• Investment in Wardens

P
age 28



Education & Awareness

• Education campaigns/ awareness  

• Social Media / Video Footage

P
age 29



Enforcement

2016/7 2017/8 2018/9 2019/20
2020/21 

Q1 & 2

No. of locations cameras have been deployed 117 80 76 44 19

No. of incidents caught on CCTV 19 23 14 4 13

No. of stop check operations 10 36 25 30 1

No. of duty of care warning letters 17 18 47 35 9

No. of producers issued 9 11 74 14 0

No. of FPN's issued for waste carrier offences 10 14 7 13 0

No. of vehicles seized 0 2 1 3 10

No. of s108 notices 0 77 62

No. of PACE interviews 31 45 21 8 2

No. of FPN's issued for fly tipping 17 23 27 20 17

No. prosecutions for fly tipping 14 10 9 11 1

Awarded fines, compensation, costs and 

surcharges
£7,019 £8,846 £4,920 £3,630 £120

P
age 30



Awareness: Spruce Up

P
age 31



TRUE TEAMWORK

Involvement: Spruce Up
Areas selected by 

Area Action 

Partnerships

P
age 32



Partners

P
age 33



Council 

Operations:

Spruce Up

P
age 34



•

‘Wow! What a 

difference’

‘Cenotaph flower beds 

look very impressive –

Well Done!’

‘The Town looks great –

Very much improved’

‘Love it!’

Crook Residents and 

Businesses

We know its making a difference 

‘Really nice to see as we walk 

through Town different things have 

been happening. My daughter has 

been telling me about it and saying it 

is for Spruce Up Spenny’

Spennymoor Resident

‘ ‘You can really see 

the difference’
Fencehouses Resident

‘All the staff are brill, really 

good lads’
Framwellgate Moor Resident

‘ ‘We have been asked to pass 

on complements by loads of 

people. Well Done!

Member of Staff at Crook Civic 

Centre

‘What a difference. I 

feel so much safer 

walking through the 

underpass’
Aycliffe Resident

P
age 35



Evaluation

90% 
Saw an significant improvement 

after Spruce Up took place

P
age 36



P
age 37



Local 

changes 

Make a 

big 

difference

“Hello and 1st of all congratulations on 
doing a good job. Your team are busy right 
now at Stone Heap Daddry Shield, I can 

see them from my window”! 

P
age 38



Local 

changes 

Make a 

big 

difference

P
age 39



Early days….
Over 113 improvements have been made over 22 sites

P
age 40



In Bloom and Street Standards

Awareness

Council Operations

Involvement

E learning Alternative to FPNsWorld First?P
age 41



Covid 19 Impact: Civic Pride
• Big Spring Clean suspended.

• Team volunteered across 

Council services.

• Equipment loan for small (less 

than 6) groups volunteers (pre 

lockdown 2)

• Garden Treasures Competition 

continued strong interest.

P
age 42



Reasons to be Cheerful 
• We are in this together: 

community focus.

• Clear aims and objectives.

• Buy in from across the 

Council.

• Communication plans 

especially social media.

• Task groups to 

monitor/evaluate/adapt.

• Positive momentum.

• Making a difference.

P
age 43



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Environment and 

Sustainable Communities 

Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee 

16 November 2020 

Bereavement Services 

 

Report of Alan Patrickson, Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods 

and Climate Change 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of the report is to provide members of Environment and 
Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee with an 
overview of the work of Bereavement Services. 
 

Executive summary 

2 This report provides members of Environment and Sustainable 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee with information and an 
update of tasks associated within Bereavement Services. 

3 A presentation will be provided to the Committee by Ian Hoult, 
Neighbourhood Protection Manager and Graham Harrison, Bereavement 
Services Manager which accompanies this report. 

4 Bereavement Services’ role is to coordinate specific areas (as set out in 
appendix 2) some of the individual elements of the service is delivered by 
different teams within the Neighbourhoods and Climate Change Service 
Grouping. 

5 The Local Authorities Cemeteries Order 1977, provides regulations in 
respect of burials, including burial records, management of memorials 
and empowers authorities to manage, regulate and control cemeteries. 

6 All crematoria must follow the legislation in the Cremation Acts 1902, 
Cremation Regulations (England and Wales 2008), regarding the disposal 
of the dead. 

Page 45

Agenda Item 7a



7 Durham County Council is responsible for 46 open cemeteries that carry 
out in excess of 700 burials per year and 98 closed churchyards.  
Additionally, the authority is also responsible for two crematoria within the 
county at Mountsett and South Road, Durham City, which are managed 
by joint committees working in partnership with other authorities.  The 
service carries out in excess of 4000 cremations per year. 

8 The COVID-19 pandemic has placed crematoria under immense pressure 
and required immediate changes in ways of working and adaption of new 
working practices.  During this time our staff have continued to provide 
services to our communities at the most difficult times. 
 

Recommendations 

9 That Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee receive and note the report and comment on it accordingly.  

 

Background 

10 Local Government Reorganisation saw a new Unitary Authority 
established from 1st April 2009. In November 2010 a special members 
seminar helped introduced the range of services to provide a greater 
understanding. It also provided an opportunity to input into areas of 
harmonisation, policy development and key issues. 

11 Our overall vision for all our cemeteries and crematoria is: 

 To provide a sensitive, respectful service fitting for the bereaved. 

 To ensure that sympathetic, supportive and confidential advice is 
given to the recently bereaved on funeral service arrangements 
and give assistance in co-ordinating the funeral process if required. 

 To provide consistent high-quality standards of maintenance in 
cemeteries and crematoria across County Durham, working to 
maximise value for money. 

 To ensure the proper respect of all Council cemeteries and 
crematoria with fair Rules and Regulations, which are explained to 
all visitors. 

Statutory Requirements 

12 Burial authorities are authorised, but not required, to provide burial 
grounds if they have available land. The Local Authorities’ Cemeteries 
Order 1977 regulates depth of burial, the need for grave and burial 
records and their storage, and the management of memorials (including 
their removal). The Order also empowers burial authorities to manage, 

Page 46



regulate and control cemeteries, to lay out, repair and provide access to 
the cemetery, apply for part of the cemetery to be consecrated or set 
apart for particular denominations, to provide chapels or mortuaries, to set 
certain fees and charges, and to maintain graves 

13 Durham County Council is responsible for some 46 open cemeteries 
carrying out in excess of 706 burials per year.  Durham County Council is 
also responsible for some 98 closed churchyards, there are also, several 
Parish Councils who are responsible for cemeteries and closed 
churchyards. 

14 The service is responsible for running 2 crematoriums at Mountsett and 
Durham which are managed by the joint committees working in 
partnership with other authorities. At Mountsett this is with Gateshead 
Borough Council and at Durham this is with Spennymoor Town Council. 
Overall, the service carries out in excess of 4,000 cremations per year 
and 90% of services are held through crematoria. 

15 The role of bereavement services overall is to coordinate all the areas 
identified in Appendix 2 and following a review individual elements are 
delivered by different teams from Clean and Green, Business Support 
and Bereavement Services. 
 

Clean and Green 

16 The Clean and Green Team deliver all the grounds maintenance 
operations associated with bereavement services i.e. grass cutting, flower 
and shrub bed maintenance, tree works, roads, walls, footpaths, fencing 
in cemeteries/closed churchyards 

17 They also undertaking grave digging operations and have been trained 
and have all achieved the Health and Safety and the Burial process 
certificate. This ensures all graves are dug and maintained in accordance 
with the Institute of Cemetery and Crematorium Management ‘Charter for 
the Bereaved’.  

18 Within the Clean and Green Team there is a core dedicated memorial 
inspection team dealing with memorial inspections making safe etc, and 
other staff that are fully trained, there are currently in excess of 75,000 
memorials to be tested. 
 

Business Support 

19 Currently within Business Support there are dedicated staff who deal with 
all aspects of burials such as.  

 Customer services 

Page 47



i. Families (grave bookings, family searches etc) 

ii. Funeral Directors (funeral arrangements) 

iii. Memorial Masons - Memorial applications and permits 

 Coordination of burials and memorials with  

 Paperwork 

i. Cemetery registers and plans 

ii. Financial aspects from invoices to reconciliation 

 

Bereavement Services 

20 Bereavement services have 2 members of staff who deal with Memorial 
inspections, Closed churchyard orders, infrastructure inspections, grave 
marking, faculty applications, complaints etc. 

21 They carry out ‘public health funerals’ in response to our statutory duties. 
This is covered under the provision of section 46 (i) of the Public Health 
(Control of Diseases) Act 1984, “where the County Council of Durham 
must, cause to be buried or cremated the body of any person who has 
died or been found dead in their area, in any case where it appears to the 
Council that no suitable arrangements have been or are being made 
otherwise than by the Authority”. 

22 Over the years this type of service has increased dramatically due to 
Funeral Poverty which is having an affect across the UK. Royal London 
(2018) reported that the average funeral costs £3,757. They also highlight 
that families are in debt for £1744 on average for each funeral. The North 
East average cost is £3,623. Recent research also shows that Universal 
Credit is now having an effect also.  

23 In most instances; we are notified of the death by the Coroner’s Officer. 
The Coroner’s Office is involved in the investigation of certain deaths (for 
example; where the cause of death is uncertain). In these cases; the 
Coroner’s Officers will make attempts to trace any relatives of the 
deceased. If the Coroner’s Office is unable to trace any relatives; or no 
person is willing or able to prepare and/or pay for a funeral; then the 
Coroner’s Office notifies Bereavement Services of the death.  

24 We may also receive notification from hospitals if a person has been 
found to be deceased upon arrival at hospital (and the Coroner’s Office is 
not involved in the investigation of the death); and there are no persons or 
relatives to arrange and/or pay for the funeral. We may also be notified of 
a death by residential homes; hospices and nursing homes. 

Page 48



25 This involves carrying out house searches to identify if there is a valid will, 
any next of kin, assets etc. that may assist with the funding of the funeral 
arrangements. In carrying out this service we may also use genealogy 
companies to assist in finding next of kin. 

26 Whenever the views of the deceased are known, the funeral is arranged 
accordingly. Most funerals are cremations unless the deceased person’s 
wish to be buried has been expressed in a signed, written statement. A 
public health funeral arranged by Durham County Council includes the 
following: 

 Appropriate advice and support 

 Liaison with third parties and personnel required to arrange a 
funeral 

 provide care and preparation of the deceased 

 carry out the local removal of the deceased from either their 
home or mortuary 

 provide a standard Windsor type coffin 

 provide a hearse to attend the service at crematorium/cemetery 

 provision of a minister/ celebrant. 

Crematoriums 

27 There are two crematoria in Durham, both are partnerships and managed 
through Durham County Council. Both have separate legal status, Central 
Durham is a partnership with Spennymoor Town Council and Mountsett in 
partnership with Gateshead Borough Council as Joint Committees. In 
Durham 90% of services are through a Crematoria. 

28 All crematoria must follow the legislation in the Cremation Acts 1902, 
Cremation Regulations (England and Wales 2008), regarding the disposal 
of the dead. 

29 There are a number of areas of change that have affected delivery of the 
service. The main challenge to the service was the requirement (from 1st 
January 2013) for 50% of all cremations to be mercury abated. Should 
this not be achievable, legislation would be introduced whereby all 
crematoria undertaking excess of 1970 cremations during 2003 would be 
required to install abatement equipment. 

30 The Federation of Burial and Cremation Authorities felt that rather than 
the cost of Mercury Abatement being met by the busiest crematoria the 
cost should be shared around the industry and introduced the CAMEO 

Page 49



scheme (a burden sharing scheme where those who with abatement 
equipment would receive payment from those without, based on the 
number of cremations undertaken). 

31 In 2003 Durham Crematorium carried out significantly more cremations 
than the threshold set out in the 2003 legislation (1,326) and was 
therefore compelled to install equipment in line with legislation. In 
consideration of this Members of the Joint Committee agreed to install 
abatement equipment.  

32 In 2003 Mountsett Crematorium carried out significantly less cremations 
than the threshold set and was therefore not compelled to install 
equipment in line with legislation. In consideration of this Members of the 
Joint Committee agreed that Mountsett Crematorium should join the 
CAMEO scheme rather than install abatement equipment.   

33 Whilst it was envisaged that the number of projected cremations would 
continue to be lower than the legislative threshold, there were strong 
environmental reasons why, the cremators were replaced in 2017 with 
Mercury Abatement equipment. 

34 Due to the recent outbreak of Covid 19 and the issues with the current 
installed cremators a decision was made to install a temporary cremator 
in the summer of 2020 at Mountsett Crematorium to cope with demand. 

35 The Joint Committee has now agreed to install new cremators, which 
when installed in 2021 will be fully compliant with the DEFRA guidelines. 

36 There has been significant capital investment of over £3.8m at Durham 
Crematorium since Local Government Reorganisation in 2009, with 
further investments of nearly £800k planned for the coming years in line 
with the Service Asset Management Plan for the site. The three cremators 
at the crematorium were installed in 2012/13, with full mercury abatement 
equipment being installed at that time. They have a life expectance of 20 
years, so the next cremator replacement programme of £1.6 million, 
based upon today’s market prices, is not scheduled until approximately 
2032. 

 

Project  Cost £ 

New additional car parking 182,899 

Crematorium extension 953,983 

New cremators and mercury abatement plant 1,292,918 

Improvement to office facilities 145,000 

Page 50



Alterations to book of remembrance room 171,463 

Refurbishment of chapel 122,698 

Refurbishment of internal waiting rooms 131,819 

Replacement of copper roofing canopies 277,184 

 

37 Since Local Government Reorganisation (LGR) in 2009 there has also 
been significant investment in the Mountsett Crematorium totalling 
£1,975,578 with further investments of nearly £900k planned for the 
coming years in line with the Service Asset Management Plan for the site.   

Project Cost £ 

Installation of Memorial Towers 21,530 

Road Widening 24,973 

Tarmac Access to Car Park 62,200 

Car Park Extension 88,398 

Cremator Replacement and Extension 1,564,515 

   

Re-cycling of Metals 

38 The recycling of metals resulting from cremation is only carried out with 
the written consent of each bereaved family. Following a cremation of a 
deceased person the cremated remains contain metals such as items 
used in the construction of the coffin and on numerous occasions, 
orthopaedic implants such as hip and knee replacement joints. In the past 
this metal was removed from the cremated remains and buried within the 
grounds of the crematorium as the bereaved had never expressed any 
desire for its return to them. With the onset of modern waste management 
regulations, the Environment Agency indicated that once the metal is 
removed from the cremated remains it becomes waste albeit very 
sensitive material. 

39 The Institute of Cemetery and Crematorium Management (I.C.C.M.) 
consulted with the Royal Dutch Cremation Federation, which has a metals 
recycling scheme currently in operation in the Netherlands and decided to 
model the UK scheme on its experiences. A specialist company called 
OrthoMetals has been contracted to provide special containers to UK 
scheme members and to carry out periodic collections. 

Page 51



40 The Dutch company then return a payment for the metals collected to the 
I.C.C.M. which is the distributed to those crematoriums who have 
nominated a death related charity. 

41 So far £194,761 has been given to local death related charities by both 
crematoriums. 

Memorialisation 

42 Ancillary income is generated from the sale of large/small memorial 
plaques, vase blocks, niche units, seats, book of remembrance entries 
etc, the majority of these can be found at both crematoriums. 

Woodland Burial Site 

43 More recently an area of land to the bottom of the crematorium which is 
owned by Durham County Council was established as a community 
owned woodland burial site which was created by the Woodland Burial 
Trust by way of a lease agreement, however this went into administration 
and Durham County Council have now taken this over and are currently 
working with a friend’s group on this site. 

Fees and Charges 

Cremation 

44 The fees and charges at both Crematoriums have been harmonised since 
LGR.  A £20 (2.9%) increase was applied in 2020/21 and the current 
budgeted cremation fee (inclusive of medical referee’s fees) is £720.  

45 The current cremation fees for crematoria across the region, shown in  the 
table below, indicates a current average cremation fee of £823 (inclusive 
of medical referee’s fees and environmental surcharge where 
appropriate) across the region: 

Crematorium Cremation Fee 

Gateshead £739 

North Tyneside £765 

Stockton £765 

Middlesbrough £790 

South Tyneside £816 

Northumberland £820 

Page 52



Newcastle £842 

Sunderland £865 

Hartlepool £872 

Coundon  £884 

Darlington  £900 

Average  £823 

  

Burial 

46 Burial fees and charges are considered each year, these increases relate 
to interment and exclusive right of burial charges by varying amounts, 
ranging from £5 to £50 (1.52% to 2.22%) and increase charges for 
memorials, miscellaneous fees by varying amounts. The interment of 
children up to 18 years old remains free. In 2020/21 new charges were 
introduced for service cancellations (less than 48 hours’ notice), overrun 
exceeding 10 minutes, late attendance at the graveside (more than 20 
minutes) and right of burial extensions from 20 to 40 years. Full details of 
all these charges are shown in Appendix 3. 

Awards 

47 In July 2009 Durham County Council were awarded The Charter for the 
Bereaved. The Charter is recognised across England as one of the top 
standards in Cemetery and Crematoria Services provision and related 
aspects of bereavement.   

48 Overall the service provided is a valued one that has achieved a Gold 
standard through the ICCM (Institute of Cemetery and Crematorium 
Management). In August 2020, Bereavement Services was rated by 
ICCM as the Thirteenth best performing service in the country. 

49 Castleside Cemetery was awarded Cemetery of Year Honourable 
Mention 2008 and Cemetery of Year Runner-Up in 2009, 2019 and again 
in 2020. 

50 There are also six green flags awarded to Council cemeteries and 
crematoriums, in recognition of their maintenance standards and 
community involvement. This is the most awards for bereavement 
services anywhere in the whole country 

 Castleside Cemetery since 2011 

 Ropery Lane Cemetery since 2008 

Page 53



 Moorside Cemetery since 2011 

 Sacriston Cemetery since 2010 

 Mountsett Crematorium since 2012 

 South Road Cemetery and Crematorium since 2011 

51 As well as these awards we also take part in the Association of Public 
Service Excellence (A.P.S.E.) benchmarking. In 2016 the service was a 
finalist in the best and most improved performer category in Cemetery 
and Crematorium services. Again in 2018 we were again a finalist in this 
category. 

The Impact of COVID-19 

52 As Members may be aware, the COVID 19 pandemic placed both 
crematoriums under immense pressure due to the increase in death rates 
and the fact that the majority services are carried out in Durham. 

53 Normal ways of doing things were immediately stopped and changes in 
government regulation meant that we had to quickly adapt to a new way 
of working, this involved changes in paperwork, death registration etc. 

54 This also involved us having to reduce the number of staff working within 
the building in order maintain operationally if those members of staff 
became effected who were working onsite. 

55 Unfortunately, one of our permanent members of staff had to go into self-
isolation as he was classed as vulnerable, which in turn placed the 
remaining staff in a difficult situation.  

56 To accommodate the additional workload extra staff were brought in from 
other Durham County Council services including neighbourhood wardens, 
sport and leisure, assets, road safety, libraries etc to cope with the 
demand. This meant that existing staff carried out their normal duties 
whilst training other staff in the roles, ensuring that we could then have a 
bank of trained staff in order to operate a shift system and be able to 
operate 7 days a week. This shift system was in place for 2 months with 
staff working 10-hour days 4 days on and 4 days off, which also included 
myself and the staff working bank holidays to cope with the demand.  

57 At Mountsett crematorium the equipment was not fully functional and with 
the demand increasing, the decision to install a temporary cremator at 
Mountsett was made to ensure that the potential peak could be met. 

58 During this extraordinary period both crematoria saw a dramatic  increase 
in excess deaths resulting in an extra 548 cremations being undertaken 
during this 2-month period (April and May) compared to previous years. 

Page 54



59 The seating within the chapels had to be removed and replaced with 15 
individual seats which allowed us to sanitise between each service 
ensuring that a safe distance of 2 metres can be maintained at all times. 
We continue to remain at this capacity until such times as  Government 
advice changes. 

60 Both Joint Committees also agreed to freeze prices and allow free 
webcasts during the worst period, however as from 1st November these 
will reverted to our current charges. During this time both book of 
remembrance remains closed, however they can be viewed online. 

61 During this time the staff have been a real asset, continue to provide 
services to our communities at the most difficult times. 

62 We continue to monitor current death trends and are ready in case of a 
second wave. 

Key issues 

Sensitivity of the service 

63 This service is provided at one of the most difficult times in families lives 
having lost a loved one. This can be a difficult task and good liaison with 
funeral directors and families is important and it is done with understanding 
and sensitivity. This task should not be underestimated. 

Regulation 

64 There are few laws of general application to burial grounds. Most burial 
law is directed at particular types of burial grounds, such as those 
operated by local authorities (the Local Authorities’ Cemeteries Order 
1977 (LACO), as amended) or the Church of England (various 
ecclesiastical Measures, although the law relating to churchyards is 
mostly common law). However, all crematoriums must follow The 
Cremation (England and Wales) Regulations 2008. During Covid updated 
regulation has changed at pace and frequently. 

Funeral Poverty 

65 Funeral Poverty is having an affect across the UK. Royal London (2018) 
reported that the average funeral costs £3757. They also highlight that 
families are in debt for £1744 on average for each funeral. The North East 
average cost is £3623. Recent research also shows that Universal Credit 
is now having an effect also. The current market has a lack of 
transparency making it difficult to compare products and there are 
significant differentials between suppliers.  To help we direct families to 
the financial help that is available and provide a range of available options 
for families to take when considering services. For example, at the 

Page 55



crematoria some slots are priced differently and there is a direct 
cremation option. 

Burial space 

66 Unlike the Crematoria which has a fixed asset base, burial space 
continues to be used up and maintenance of these community spaces  will 
continue ad infinitum. 

67 Therefore, we continue to look at areas in which we can suitably extend 
or create new burial grounds where possible, however this is subject to 
Environment Agency approval regarding groundwater pollution. 

The Future 

68 The cremator replacement work at Mountsett is due to commence in 
2021. 

69 The next cremator replacement works at Durham crematorium are not 
scheduled until 2032.  

Conclusion 

70 Bereavement services continues to provide services to our communities 
at a time in life when they are at their most vulnerable. 

Background papers  

None 

Contact:  Graham Harrison Tel: 03000 265606 

Page 56



   

Appendix 1:  Implications  

Legal Implications 

Not applicable 

Finance 

Not applicable 

Consultation 

Not applicable 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Not applicable 

Human Rights 

Not applicable 

Climate Change 

Not applicable 

Crime and Disorder 

Not applicable 

Staffing 

Not applicable 

Accommodation 

Not applicable 

Risk 

Not applicable 

Procurement 

Not applicable 

 

 

 

 

Page 57



 

Appendix 2:  Bereavement Functions 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

` 

 

Bereavement Services 

Grave Digging 

• Grave markings 
• Lifting & Levelling Graves 
• Grave Maintenance Works 
• Reinstatement of Graves 

Partnership Working 

• Friends of the Cemetery 

• Parish Councils 

Miscellaneous 

• Cemetery Gates & Fence Painting 

• Dry Stone Walling 

• Memorial Bench Maintenance 

• Maintenance of Walls & Fences 
• Attend Funerals to Direct Cortege 

to graveside 

• Attend Site Visits with Bereaved 
Public Funerals 

• Exhumations 

• Cemetery Extensions. 

Grounds Maintenance 

 Grass Cutting & Strimming  

 Tree Planting / Inspections maintenance 

 Maintenance of Footpaths and Headstones 

 Rose / Shrub / Flower Bed Maintenance 

 Hedge Border Maintenance & Hedge Cutting 

 Litter Picking 

 Weed Killing 

 Leaf / snow clearing & gritting 

 Turfing & Seeding 

 Path edging 
 Topping up Graves 
 Including closed cemeteries and graveyards 

Admin 

 Funeral / Grave and Crematorium Booking 

 Dealing with the Sale of Grave Plots 

 Deal with members of the public face to 
face as well as by telephone and letter. 

 Carry out Grave Searches. 

 Draw up map of Cemeteries. 

 Identifying Deed Holders and arrange any 
transfer of deeds. 

 Memorial Applications. 

 Transferring Information onto registers. 

 Finance/ Income generation/ Invoicing/ 
Reconciliation/ Liaising with Funeral 
Directors/ Monumental Masons 

 Issuing Permits 

 Liaising with Registry Offices 

 Ordering Stocks 

 Customer Satisfaction Service 

 Book of Remembrance. 

 Monumental Masons/ Funeral Director 
Meetings. 

 Fees & Charges 

 

Crematoriums 

Awards 

Cemetery of the Year - Runner Up 

Baby Garden - Runner Up 

Chester-Le-Street Cemetery 

Green Flag 

A.P.S.E 

Memorial Inspection Team 

 Headstone Inspections 

 All memorials must be erected in 
accordance with the National 
Association of Memorial Masons 
Specification. 

 All monumental masons must be 
registered with the Bramm register of 
Accredited Monumental Masons. 

 

Page 58



Appendix 3:  Burial charges 

 

Product Group Product Description

2020/21 

Method of 

Charging

2019/20 

Charge 

(£) (inc 

VAT)

2020/21 

Charge 

(£) (inc 

VAT)

Actual 

Increase 

(£)

Actual 

%'age 

Increase

VAT 

Code

Burial Fees 

Exclusive right of burial (inc headstone 

fees) - resident

Per Burial 1,185.00 1,210.00 25.00 2.11% E

Exclusive right of burial ½ plot (inc 

headstone fees) - resident

Per Burial 710.00 725.00 15.00 2.11% E

Exclusive right of burial (inc headstone 

fees) - non resident

Per Burial 2,350.00 2,400.00 50.00 2.13% E

Exclusive right of burial ½ plot (inc 

headstone fees) - non resident

Per Burial 1,390.00 1,420.00 30.00 2.16% E

Interment of Stillborn child, or a child up to 

(but not including) 18 years (at time of 

death)

Per Burial 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% E

Interment of a person aged 18 years or 

over at time of death - resident

Per Burial 835.00 850.00 15.00 1.80% E

Interment of person aged 18 years or over 

at time of death - non resident

Per Burial 1,650.00 1,685.00 35.00 2.12% E

Interment of person aged 18 years or over 

at time of death- Saturday resident

Per Burial 1,250.00 1,275.00 25.00 2.00% E

Interment of cremated remains - resident Per Burial 225.00 230.00 5.00 2.22% E
Interment of cremated remains - non 

resident

Per Burial 450.00 460.00 10.00 2.22% E

Interment of cremated remains - Saturday 

resident

Per Burial 330.00 335.00 5.00 1.52% E

Memorial fees

Erection of headstone fee Per Item 260.00 265.00 5.00 1.92% E
Tablets, Plaques, Flat Stones on memorial 

walls

Per Item 130.00 133.00 3.00 2.31% E

Vases (permanent) Per Item 85.00 87.00 2.00 2.35% E
Additional inscriptions Per Item 70.00 70.00 0.00 0.00% E
Replacement headstones Per Item 75.00 76.00 1.00 1.33% E
Kerbs (in certain cemeteries) Per Item 365.00 375.00 10.00 2.74% E
Kerbs ½ grave plot (in certain cemeteries) Per Item 180.00 185.00 5.00 2.78% E

Erection of headstone where no exclusive 

right purchased (50+ years old)

Per Item 260.00 265.00 5.00 1.92% E

Erection of headstone where no exclusive 

of right purchased (25-50 years old)

Per Item 810.00 820.00 10.00 1.23% E

Miscellaneous Cemetery Fees

Cemetery searches Per Item 25.00 25.00 0.00 0.00% E
Grave selection fee Per Item 60.00 60.00 0.00 0.00% E
Transfer of ownership (change deed 

holders)

Per Item 80.00 80.00 0.00 0.00% E

Copy of deed Per Item 25.00 25.00 0.00 0.00% E
Service cancellation (less than 48 hrs 

notice)

Per Item 0.00 250.00 new charge new charge E

Overrun exceeding 10 minutes Per Item 0.00 50.00 new charge new charge E
Late attendance at graveside (more than 

20 minutes)

Per Item 0.00 50.00 new charge new charge E

Full grave - 20 year extension Per Item 0.00 282.00 new charge new charge E
Full grave - 30 year extension Per Item 0.00 423.00 new charge new charge E
Full grave - 40 year extension Per Item 0.00 564.00 new charge new charge E
Cremated remains section – 20 year 

extension

Per Item 0.00 164.00 new charge new charge E

Cremated remains section – 30 year 

extension

Per Item 0.00 247.00 new charge new charge E

Cremated remains section – 40 year 

extension

Per Item 0.00 329.00 new charge new charge E

Children’s section grave – 20 year 

extension 

Per Item 0.00 164.00 new charge new charge E

Children’s section grave – 30 year 

extension 

Per Item 0.00 247.00 new charge new charge E

Children’s section grave – 40 year 

extension 

Per Item 0.00 329.00 new charge new charge E

Chapel of Rest per day (Chester-le-Street 

only)

Per Item 150.00 150.00 0.00 0.00% E

Cemetery Columbarium Fees

Columbarium Unit for maximum of 2 

interments (20y lease)

Per Item 1,120.00 1,120.00 0.00 0.00% E

Plaque inclusive of 80 letters inclusive of 

VAT

Plaque & 80 

Letters
120.00 120.00 0.00 0.00%  S

Additional letter at £1.38 each plus VAT Per Letter 1.65 1.65 0.00 0.00% S
Re-opening for second interment 

(re:Columbarium)

Per Item 55.00 55.00 0.00 0.00% E

Plus second inscription at £1.38 per letter 

plus VAT

Per Letter 1.65 1.65 0.00 0.00% S

Removal and replacement of tablet 

inclusive of VAT (re:Columbarium)

Per Item 32.00 32.00 0.00 0.00% S

Note: VAT is not included in the above costs unless otherwise stated as burials and associated expenses are exempt.

Neighbourhood Protection

Proposed fees and charges 2020/21

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



Environment and Sustainable 
Communities Scrutiny

Bereavement Services

Graham Harrison

Ian Hoult

P
age 61

A
genda Item

 7b



What does Bereavement Services Cover

• Crematoria – Mountsett & Central Durham

• Cemeteries – 46 open, 98 closed/ church yards

• Woodland burials

• Public funerals

• Cemetery development

• Technical expertise

• Memorial safety

• Community involvement

P
age 62



What we do?

P
age 63



Cemeteries

P
age 64



Cemeteries
• Who provides – DCC, Parish & Faith

• Settings – Cemeteries, closed church yards & woodland site

• Provision – Burials, maintenance, headstone inspections

• Awards – Green Flag, Cemetery of the Year

• Key issues – sensitivity, burial space, funeral poverty, regulation & Covid

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
Till now

Burial Numbers

P
age 65



Woodland Burial Site

• Alternative to traditional 
funerals, cemeteries and 
graveyards.

• Alternative grave and 
memorial choice.

• Return to nature.

• Environmentally friendly

• Friends of Durham 
Woodland Cemetery

P
age 66



Crematoria
• Who provides – DCC & private

• Provision – Wesley music system, organ, webcasting of services, 
recordings, books of remembrances, memorials, recycling of 
metals

• Investment & development

• Increased parking, separate book of remembrance building, 
energy improvements, chapel and office improvements.

• Mercury Abatement compliance

• Awards – Charter for the Bereaved, Green flag, A.P.S.E.

• Key issues – sensitivity, regulation, funeral poverty & Covid

P
age 67



Cremation numbers

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 till
now

'

Mountsett Crem Durham Crem

Number

P
age 68



Durham Crematorium

P
age 69



Mountsett Crematorium

P
age 70



Re-cycling of metals

• Metals remaining after 
cremation

• Ortho Metals B. V.

• Proceeds are returned to 
the crematoria by 
OrthoMetals.

• So far £194,761 given to 
local death related 
charities by both 
crematoriums.

P
age 71



Memorialisation

• Memorial gardens Durham 
Crematorium. 

• Large and small plaques.

• Vase blocks(Durham only).

• Niche units (Durham only).

• Seats

• Arriving shortly memorial 
trees.

• Memorial towers (Mountsett 
only)

P
age 72



Public Health Funerals
• Statutory Duty - A local authority must make 

arrangements for the funerals of people who die or 
are found dead in their area where no other 
arrangements are being made.

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Number

P
age 73



Achievements so far

P
age 74



The impact of Covid

• Excess deaths

• Regulations

• Resources

• Equipment

• Controls

• Second Wave

P
age 75



Key Issues

• Sensitivity of the service

• Regulation

• Funeral Poverty

• Burial space

• Covid

P
age 76



Thank you!

Questions?

P
age 77



T
his page is intentionally left blank



            

Environment and 

Sustainable Communities 

Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee 

16 November 2020 

Overview of Household 

Waste Management  

 

Report of Alan Patrickson, Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods 

and Climate Change 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide members of Environment and Sustainable Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee with an overview of the management 
of household waste in County Durham. 
 

2 Arrangements have been made for Oliver Sherratt, Head of 
Environment to attend a virtual meeting of the committee on 16 
November 2020. 
 

Executive summary 

3 Durham County Council as a unitary authority has a statutory duty for 
both the collection and treatment of household waste. It fulfils its 
responsibilities through direct “in house” provision of collection services 
including refuse, recycling and garden waste. It fulfils its disposal 
obligations through a range of contracts, for example residual waste 
treatment, household waste recycling centres and materials 
reprocessing facilities (recycling). 

4 Head of Environment, Oliver Sherratt will provide a presentation which 
will outline the Councils overall approach to waste management, 
reflected in a simple priority hierarchy of waste avoidance/reduction 
where possible, encouraging reuse, promoting recycling and as a last 
resort waste treatment/disposal. The presentation will illustrate what the 
Council and partners have been doing against the themes in the waste 
hierarchy, some of which has gained national recognition. 

Page 79

Agenda Item 8a



5 The presentation will highlight some of the progress made in the last 
decade, for instance a move to alternate weekly collection and new 
waste contracts. It will also outline some of the on-going challenges 
relating to COVID 19, including adaptions to service. It will look ahead 
to the next decade with an insight into new developments for instance a 
multi-Council procurement of waste treatment recently commenced, and 
the potential statutory requirement for food waste collection signalled in 
the Resources and Waste Strategy for England 2018. 

Recommendations 
 

6 That Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee receive the report and comment on it accordingly.  
 

Background 
 

7 The Council has statutory responsibility for collection and disposal of 
household waste. It discharges these functions through a mixture of “in-
house” provision (for collection) and through a range of contracts. There 
is also a statutory duty to make arrangements for the collection of 
commercial waste if requested by the occupier of the premises in the 
area. 
 

8 A summary of the services provided include: 
 

 Refuse and Recycling Collections (In House, free at point of 
delivery) 

 Clinical Waste Collection (In house, free at point of delivery) 

 Bring Sites (in house, supplemented by third parties, free a point 
of delivery) 

 Garden Waste Collection (in house except in Teesdale, charged 
scheme) 

 Bulky waste Collection (in house, charged scheme) 

 Trade waste collection (in house, on request, charged scheme) 

 Household Waste Recycling Centres (Contract, HW Martins) 

 Materials Reprocessing (Recyclates) (Contract, Biffa) 

 Waste Treatment (Energy from Waste) (Contract Suez). 
 

Waste Hierarchy 
 
9 The European Waste Framework Directive (2008) first set out the waste 

hierarchy, enshrining the important principles of avoiding waste where 
possible, and a descending order of priorities, from reuse to recycling to 
waste treatment and disposal, with a requirement that Member states 
adopt these in their waste strategies. Many of these principles remain 
just as valid today, indeed the latest national Resources and Waste 
Strategy 2018 sets out how material resources will be preserved by 

Page 80



minimizing waste, promoting resource efficiency and moving towards a 
circular economy in England. 
 

10 A presentation provided by Oliver Sherratt, Head of Environment will 
outline the Councils work in fulfilling the principles of the waste 
hierarchy, making reference with County Durham examples of the 
benefits of a circular economy. The presentation will include several 
examples of waste reduction/avoidance together with reuse. 
 

11 Collection of refuse and recycling are substantial operations in a large 
County like Durham. They employ over 300 staff, and 86 vehicles 
utilising 4 transfer stations for the onward haulage of residual waste and 
recycling. A range of policies guide the work, including assisted 
collections, no side waste and extra receptacles for households more 
than six people. 
 

12 An insight into the use of modern technology will be given for instance 
in use of a Bartec system for recording missed and non-presented bins, 
360 degree cameras which brings benefits for respect of crews and 
insurance, as well as a breaksafe system. 
 

13  An overview of the range of external contracts will be provided in the 
presentation, ranging from household waste recycling centres through 
to the energy from waste contract. 
 

Challenges and Opportunities 
 
14 The last decade has seen considerable change in waste services in 

County Durham – the introduction of alternate waste collection, the wind 
down of Premier Waste and letting of new waste management 
contracts. These have delivered considerable budgetary savings (c. 
£4M pa) and also increased recycling/composting to 41.2% (2019/20).  
 

15 The service is currently contending with the impact of COVID 19 which 
for the first lockdown did see temporary service suspensions (bulky 
goods, garden waste and household waste recycling centres), although 
these services have now been (at the time of writing) restored, albeit 
with additional costs through extra vehicles, staffing and in some 
circumstances (e.g. household waste recycling centres) traffic 
management. These adaptions have come at a time when demand is 
greater than ever before, at its May peak having 24.8% more recyclate 
and 17.3% more residual waste arising from more people staying at 
home. 
 

16 The next decade will be guided by the Resources and Waste Strategy 
for England, and although provisions and timings may change due to 
COVID-19, the Strategy does signal mandatory food waste collections 
and the potential of free garden waste collection services, as well as a 

Page 81



wider impact on recycling for instance through a deposit return scheme. 
In addition to this a range of local waste contracts will be procured, the 
largest of which would be a collaboration between 8 North East 
Councils, for Energy From Waste meeting future waste treatment needs 
for 25 years. 
 

Conclusions  

17 The Council follows the principles of the waste hierarchy which offer the 
lowest cost and most sustainable solutions to waste management. 

18 The last decade has seen considerable change in how the Council 
undertakes its waste management services. It is currently contending 
with the impact of COVID-19 where safety of staff and customers are 
paramount. The next decade will also bring substantial change, with 
new large scale procurement, and the potential provision of new 
services.  

 

Background papers 

Defra Resources and Waste Strategy (2018) 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/resources-and-waste-

strategy-for-england 

Directive 2008/98/EC on waste (Waste Framework Directive) 

https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-

content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:32008L0098 

 

Contact:  Oliver Sherratt Tel: 03000 269259 

Page 82

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/resources-and-waste-strategy-for-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/resources-and-waste-strategy-for-england
https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:32008L0098
https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:32008L0098


   

Appendix 1:  Implications   

Legal Implications 

The Council has a range of duties and powers for waste management, 

including those within (but not restricted to) Environmental Protection Act 

1990. 

Finance 

This will be covered in the presentation. 

Consultation 

Not applicable. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Not applicable. 

Human Rights 

Not applicable. 

Climate Change 

Waste avoidance, minimisation, reuse and recycling are important ways we 

can all help in reducing carbon emissions. 

Crime and Disorder 

Not applicable. 

Staffing 

This will be covered in the presentation. 

Accommodation 

Not applicable. 

Risk 

Not applicable. 

Procurement 

An outline of contracts and new procurement will be provided in the 

presentation. 

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank



Household Waste Management in County Durham 

An Overview

Oliver Sherratt, 

Head of Environment

P
age 85

A
genda Item

 8b



Presentation Outline

• Big picture

• Reduction and reuse

• Recycling and composting

• Waste treatment

• Other waste services

• Impact of Covid

• The last decade

• What the next may bring.

P
age 86



Big Picture: Waste Hierarchy

Wasteful  >>>>>>> to >>>>>>>       Wise

P
age 87



Big Picture: A Circular EconomyP
age 88



Big picture: County Durham Operations

Resources

• More than 300 frontline and 
office staff

• 86 Front line refuse & recycling 
vehicles

• 12 Household Waste 
Recycling Centres and 1 
mobile HWRC at Frosterley

• 4 Waste Transfer Stations

• 1 new composting facility 

Productivity

• 2019/20, County Durham 

households generated 231,341 

tonnes of waste 

• 41.2% reuse, recycling and 

composting (2019/20)

• 249,736 bins to be collected 

every week 99.86% successful 

per quarter.

• Over 2,000 bulky collections 

carried out every

• Over 65,000 garden waste 

subscriptions.

P
age 89



Waste Reduction Campaigns

Home Composting

Love Food Hate Waste

Smart 

Shopping

Junk Mail Christmas

Real 

Nappies

P
age 90



Encouraging Reuse

Single Use PlasticsGreen Move Out

Community 

Fridge and 

Food Apps

Plastic Roads

Furniture reuse schemes

Water 

Refill 

Scheme Stainton 

Grove 

Reuse 

Shop

P
age 91



Recycling

P
age 92



The challenge of contamination

P
age 93



More but of the right stuffP
age 94



Garden Waste 2020

• Inhouse service began May 2020

• Operating Monday & Saturday 

collections

• Over 65,000 subscriptions

• 14,500 tonnes collected to date

P
age 95



Teesside Energy from Waste 

The residual waste is transported by 

large trucks to the Energy from 

Waste plant located next to the 

River Tees at Haverton Hill in 

Billingham. It is operated by Suez 

(Waste Management Company) on 

behalf of a number of councils in the 

north east region.

c. 96.8% diverted from landfill to end 

June. 

New Multi Council Procurement Post 

2025 underway.

energy-from-waste (EfW) is the process of making energy 

in the form of electricity and/or heat from the incineration 

(burning) of waste. 

P
age 96



Other Collection Services

• Clinical Waste Collection (free)

• Bulky Waste Collections 

(charged)

• Household Waste Recycling 

Centres (free)

• “Bring” sites (free)

• Trade Waste Collections 

(charged)

P
age 97



Safety and Policy

• Assisted collections

• No side waste

• Missed collections

• Putting out receptacles for emptying

• Bin replacements/repair

• Additional residual / recycling bins for larger 

households

• Enforcement procedures

• Services to charities and community 

organisations

P
age 98



Impacts of Covid-19 Household Perspective

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

0
2
.0

3
.2

0

0
9
.0

3
.2

0

1
6
.0

3
.2

0

2
3
.0

3
.2

0

3
0
.0

3
.2

0

E
a

s
te

r 
h
o

ls
…

E
a

s
te

r 
h
o

ls
…

2
0
.0

4
.2

0

2
7
.0

4
.2

0

V
.E

 B
.H

O
L

…

1
1
.0

5
.2

0

1
8
.0

5
.2

0

2
5
.0

5
.2

0
 B

.H
O

L

0
1
.0

6
.2

0

0
8
.0

6
.2

0

1
5
.0

6
.2

0

2
2
.0

6
.2

0

2
9
.0

6
.2

0

0
6
.0

7
.2

0

1
3
.0

7
.2

0

2
0
.0

7
.2

0

2
7
.0

7
.2

0

0
3
.0

8
.2

0

1
0
.0

8
.2

0

1
7
.0

8
.2

0

2
4
.0

8
.2

0

3
1
.0

8
.2

0
…

0
7
.0

9
.2

0

1
4
.0

9
.2

0

2
1
.0

9
.2

0

2
8
.0

9
.2

0

0
5
.1

0
.2

0

1
2
.1

0
.2

0

T
o
n
n
e
s

W/C Date

Total Weekly Tonnage 

Residual Waste 2020 DMR 2020 Residual Waste 2019

DMR 2019 Linear (Residual Waste 2020) Linear (DMR 2020)

May Peak

24.8% 

increase 

recycling

17.3% 

increase 

residual

34.18% 

Contamination

P
age 99



Impacts of Covid-19
Refuse and Recycling collections prioritised, extra resources to 

operate the service (eg retained vehicles).

Redeployed staff from highways and leisure during peak of 

lockdown.

Garden waste service initially delayed by 1 month, the service 

restarted in May operating on a Monday & Saturday covering 

the 65,135 collections (5.6% increase)

Bulky waste collections were stopped for a time, this service 

was restarted in May 8,344 collections in Q2

Initial closure of HWRCs - reopened with Covid restrictions and 

measures in place e.g. increased traffic management on sites

Majority of front line staff at work, office based working from 

home. 

Additional costs, associated with maintaining social distancing 

across services, market uncertainty/furlough for recyclate

outlets.

P
age 100



The last decade:
• Alternate weekly collections (from 7 

systems).

• Wind down of Premier Waste

• New recyclate and EfW contracts

• Refurbished 4 waste transfer stations

• New HWRC contract and Stainton 

Grove refurbishment

• In housed garden waste collections

• Virtually eliminated waste to landfill

• Easier reporting, self service and permit 

schemes

Eliminated 

Landfill TaxTotal 

savings 

(2013)

P
age 101



Now and next decade?

• Covid 19: Safety and Business 

Continuity, Monitor HWRCs

• Multi Authority Waste Treatment 

Procurement Competitive Dialogue 

stage.

• Future Savings Pressures

• Potential mandatory food waste 

collections

• Potential mandatory garden waste 

collections

• An aging workforce

• Lower emission fleet

• Establishing a viable circular 

economy

P
age 102



 

             

        

 Environment and Sustainable 

Communities Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee 

16 November 2020 

Neighbourhoods & Climate Change – 

Quarter 1: Forecast of Revenue and 

Capital Outturn 2020/21 

 

Report of Corporate Directors 

John Hewitt, Corporate Director of Resources 

Alan Patrickson, Corporate Director Neighbourhoods & Climate 
Change 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide details of the forecast outturn budget for this service area 
highlighting major variances in comparison with the budget, based on 
the position to the end of Quarter 1 (30 June 2020). 

Executive summary 

2 This report provides an overview of the updated forecast of outturn, 
based on the position at Quarter 1, 2020/21.  It provides an analysis of 
the budgets and forecast outturn for the service areas falling under the 
remit of this Overview and Scrutiny Committee and complements the 
reports considered and agreed by Cabinet on a quarterly basis. 

3 The updated position is that there is a forecast revenue underspend of 
£0.531 million, against a revised budget of £108.523 million. 

4 In arriving at the cash limit position, Covid-19 related expenditure of 
£10.497 million, offset by Covid-19 related savings of £0.237 million 
within Neighbourhoods & Climate Change have been excluded from the 
forecasts. Covid-19 related costs are being treated corporately and 
offset by Government funding so far as is possible, though forecast net 
costs currently exceed the grant that has been made available. 

 

Page 103

Agenda Item 9a



5 The revised service capital budget is £44.631 million and this is forecast 
to be fully spent by year-end. 

6 Details of the reasons for under and overspending against relevant 
budget heads is disclosed in the report. 

 

Recommendation(s) 

7 Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee is requested to note the contents of this report. 

Background 

8 County Council approved the Revenue and Capital budgets for 2020/21 
at its meeting on 26 February 2020. These budgets have subsequently 
been revised to account for changes in grant (additions/reductions), 
budget transfers between service groupings and budget re-profiling 
between years (in terms of capital).  This report covers the financial 
position for the following budgets of the services within the scope of this 
committee; 

(a) Revenue Budget - £108.523million  

(b) Capital Programme – £44.631 million  

 
9 The summary financial statements contained in the report cover the 

financial year 2020/21 and show: - 

(a) The approved annual budget; 
 

(b) The forecast of income and expenditure as recorded in the Council’s 
financial management system; 

 

(c) The variance between the annual budget and the forecast outturn; 
 

(d) For the revenue budget, adjustments for items outside of the cash 
limit (outside of the Service’s control) to take into account such items 
as redundancies met from the strategic reserve, capital charges and 
use of / or contributions to earmarked reserves. 

Forecast Revenue Outturn 2020/21 

10 The service is reporting a cash limit underspend of £0.531 million 
against a revised budget of £108.523 million.  

11 The following table shows the revenue outturn position analysed by 
Head of Service area. 

Page 104



 

Service Budget - Analysis by Head of Service £’000  

Head of Service 

  

2020/21  

Budget 

 £’000 

Forecast 

 Of 

 Outturn 

 £’000 

Variance 

(under) /  

over spend 

£’000 

 

 

 

 

Net Covid 

Adjustment 

£’000s 

Items Outside 

Cash Limit – 

Transfers to / 

From 

 Reserves 

 £’000 

 

Cash 

Limit 

Variance 

QTR1 

£’000 

Central Costs 33,361 33,211 (150) 0 0 (150) 

Environmental Services 50,674 55,133 4,459 (4,962) 489 (14) 

Technical Services 12,770 15,004 2,233 (1,987) (657) (411) 

Community Protection 4,281 4,584 303 (67) (115) 121 

Partnerships & 
Community 
Engagement 

7,437 10,777 3,340 (3,244) (173) (77) 

 NET EXPENDITURE 108,523 118,709 10,185 (10,260) (456) (531) 

 
Cash Limit Outturn – Explanation of Over and Under Spending 

12 The forecast revenue outturn for 2020/21 is under budget against the 
cash limit by £0.531 million, after taking account of the forecast use of 
reserves, and items outside the cash limit.  

13 The main reasons accounting for the outturn position are shown below: 

 Environmental Services is forecast to underspend by £14,000. 
Within this area there are overspends relating to unbudgeted pay 
re-gradings for Refuse Collection drivers of £0.215 million and 
Neighbourhood Wardens of £0.188 million, and unachieved 
MTFP savings from previous years within Fleet of £0.166 million 
and Clean & Green of £73,000 that have not yet been addressed 
in the base budget. These base budget overspends have 
however been offset by savings due to delays in implementing 
the two new refuse collection rounds resulting in an underspend 
of £0.137 million; a delay in the procurement of the Household 
Waste Recycling Centre contract resulting in a saving of £0.346 
million and savings due to vacancies as a result of a delay in 
appointing the new Neighbourhood Wardens resulting in further 
savings of £0.154 million.  The service received full year budget 
growth in 2020/21 for the new refuse rounds and the additional 

Page 105



Neighbourhood Wardens, meaning that the delays in 
implementation are producing one-off underspends. 

 

 Technical Services is forecast to underspend by £0.411million.  
There is an additional trading surplus within Highways Services of 
£0.326 million forecast, and employee vacancy savings of £0.306 
million, along with additional income of £0.292m relating to 
additional permit income and other fees and charges in Strategic 
Highways.  There is also a £0.109m underspend due to savings 
on electricity charges forecast.  These savings are partially offset 
however by a predicted overspend in winter maintenance costs of 
£0.446 million after utilising the remaining winter maintenance 
reserve and overspends of £0.167million on agency costs relating 
to condition surveys, contractor costs and rechargeable works. 

 

 Partnerships & Community Engagement is forecast to underspend 
by £77,000.  This is mainly due to a managed underspend in 
Supplies and Services, that will be utilised in 2021/22 for a delayed 
MTFP saving. 

 

 Community Protection is forecast to overspend by £0.121 million.  This 
is mainly due to £0.109 million costs relating to staff regradings, £23,000 
reduction in partner funding and £78,000 under achieved licensing 
income.  These overspends are partially offset by savings of £68,00 due 
to a number of posts currently being vacant and a further £21,000 
underspend on transport and supplies. 

 
 

14 Appendix 2 provides a more detailed breakdown of variations across 
the service area contained within the revenue budget. 

 

Capital Programme 

15 The capital programme was revised in May for budget re-phased from 
2019/20. This increased the 2020/21 original budget. Further reports to 
the MOWG detailed further revisions, for grant additions/reductions, 
budget transfers and budget re-profiling into later years.  The revised 
budget now stands at £44.631 million.   

16 Summary financial performance to the end of June is shown below. 

Page 106



Service Original 

Annual 

Budget 

2020/21 

Revised 

Annual 

Budget 

2020/21 

 

Forecast 

Outturn 

2020/21 

 

 

Variance 

2020/21 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 

Environmental Services 6,237 2,978 2,978 0 

Technical Services 30,954 32,469 32,469 0 

Partnerships & Community 

Engagement 

5,972 5,967 5,967 0 

Community Protection 106 106 106 0 

Total 43,269 44,631 44,631 0 

 

17 As at 31 March 2020, the capital programme for 2020/21 was £43.269 

million. The capital budget has subsequently been adjusted at MOWG 

meetings during the year as a result of additional funding sources being 

identified, along with virements in to future years, and this has now 

resulted in a revised 2020/21 Capital Programme of £44.631 million.  It is 

currently anticipated that the full budget will be spent in 2020/21.   

 

Background papers 

 County Council Report (26 February 2020) – Medium Term 
Financial Plan 2020/21 to 2023/24 and Revenue and Capital 
Budget 2020/21. 

 Cabinet Report (16 September 2020) – Forecast of Revenue and 
Capital Outturn 2020/21 – Period to 30 June 2020. 

 

Contact: Philip Curran Tel:  03000 261967 
   

 

  

Page 107



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

Not applicable. 

Finance 

Financial implications are detailed throughout the report which provides an 

analysis of the revenue and capital projected outturn position. 

Consultation 

Not applicable. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Not applicable. 

Human Rights 

Not applicable. 

Crime and Disorder 

Not applicable. 

Staffing 

Not applicable. 

Accommodation 

Not applicable. 

Risk 

The consideration of regular budgetary control reports is a key component of 

the Council’s Corporate and Financial Governance arrangements. 

Procurement 

Not applicable. 

 

 

 

Page 108



Variance Explanation

Head of Environment 0 No variance

Environment & Design 3 Minor variance

North Penines AONB 0 No variance

Clean & Green (16) £73k overspend due to unachieved 18/19 savings

(£38k) underspend re unbudgeted Commuted Sums from developers

£66k overspend on 3 unbudgeted posts at Wharton park (Programme 

Officer and 2 apprentices)

£29k overspend on 1 unbudgeted post for Playing Fields & Pitches

(£39k) underspend on Morrison Busty Nursery due to additional Parish 

Council income

(£107k) underspend on transport due to low er contract hire costs until 

new  vehicles arrive 

Depots 30 £34k overspend due to 18/19 MTFP (£30k) security saving not achieved

(£78k) underspend on utilities

£58k overspend on addional repairs incl £10k at Morrison Busty 

w orkshop w here pit is to f ill and £15k w orks at Meadow field IT building

£16k overspend on supplies such as refuse collection and equipment

Fleet 123 (£13k) underspend on a vacant post for part of the year

£93k overspend due to 18/19 MTFP restructure

£43k overspend due to historic 16/17 MTFP Business Support saving

Neighbourhood 

Protection

69 £188k overspend due to Wardens pay increase as w ell as £15k 

unachieved income on FPN offset by £15k additional SLA income

(£154k) underspend on Neighbourhood Wardens mainly due to new  

w ardens not being appointed until part w ay through the year

£35k overspend on Bereavement mainly due to low er levels of cemetery 

income and planning application fee

Refuse & Recycling 85 £7k overspend on staff ing

£215k  overspend on job evaluation of drivers

£41k overspend to remove/re-f it cameras & brakesafe equipment on new  

vehicles

(£137k) underspend on delay of new  rounds not starting until September

(£71k) underspend on transport costs due to vehicle replacement

£30k overspend on legal fees relating to EU challenge

Strategic Waste (309) (95k) underspend on Employees due mainly to vacant posts

(£346k) underspend on HWRC contract - delay in procuring new  contract

(£137k) underspend on Garden Waste scheme w here the sign ups have 

increased

£306k  underachieved Income - £336k Pow er generation less £30k 

additional trade w aste disposal

(£37k) underspend on other areas such as pow er generation 

maintenance

TOTAL (15)  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2: Heads Of Service Analysis – Environmental Services 

Page 109



 

Appendix 2: Heads Of Service Analysis – Partnerships & 

Community Engagement 

 

  Variance Explanation 

AAP (63) £6k overspend on Employees due to fully staffed so not able to meet 

the 3% turnover saving.                                                                                                       
(£4k) Premises underspend.                                                                                 
(£65K) managed underspend on S&S  

CCU & Policy 25 £8k overspend due to fully staffed due to fully staffed so not able to 

meet the 3% turnover saving.                                                                                                 
(£8k) managed underspend on S&S 
(£25k) unachievable income, due to the schools having received 

training and are now in a position to prepare their own emergency 
plans. 

Community 
Buildings 

0 No material variance 

PACE 
Management 

0 No material variance 

PACE (37) (£20k) on Employees due to vacant posts 
(£17k) managed underspend on S&S 

TOTAL (75)   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 110



Appendix 2: Heads Of Service Analysis – Technical Services 

 

Variance Explanation

Head of Technical Services (61)
Underspend on Employees of (£63k) re vacancy offset by overspend 

on Supplies of £2k.

Highways Services Trading (326)

Reduced income of £2,674k generated by trading activities in 

Highways, Street Lighting and Commercial Group, offset by reduced 

related cost of sales of (£1,002k) on Employees, Supplies and 

Agency. Adjustment of (£1,998k) for COVID related costs and lost 

income.

Highways Services Non-Trading 447

Overspend of £27k on Highways Services Revenue for additional 

scheduled work on Category 1 and 2 highways repair work, street 

lighting and cable testing. All overspends to be partially offset by 

additional surplus on trading activities. Net overspend of £420k on 

Winter Maintenance due to shortfall in earmarked reserve.

Strategic Highways (470)

Employees net underspend of (£306k) due to vacancies and 

reduced hours in Street Lighting Drainage, Traffic, Road Safety and 

Asset Management, offset by additional overtime and agency staff 

and apprenticeships in Structures. Saving projection to be reviewed 

and updated once restructure proposals approved. Highways Permit 

scheme Employee expenditure offset by matching Income.

Underspend of (£109k) on Premises for electricty saving of (£114k) 

offset by additional business rates of £5k.

Underspend of (£37k) on Transport for car allowances and fuel 

largely in Traffic, Road Safety and Asset Management. 

Overspend of £60k on Supplies and Services with overspends of 

£62k on consultants, legal expenses and other hired services, and 

£27k on ICT, offset by underspends of (£29k) on equipment and 

general expenses across all service areas.

Overspend of £167k on Agency. Additional spend of £32k in Traffic 

on rechargeable works, offset by recharged income. Additional 

spend of £135k on condition surveys, Section 38 supervison and 

rechargeable works in Asset Management.

Overspend of £35k in Asset Management on Central due to 

additional staff recharges.

Over recovered Income of (£292k). Street Lighting additional fees of 

(£16k). Traffic & Street Works (£429k) additional income from fixed 

penalty notices, street naming, inspections, and the new permit 

scheme. Drainage additional SUDS and planning fees and 

Government grant of (£4k). Asset Management reduced 

sponsorship and other income of £60k. Structures additional 

recharge income (£6k). Road Safety reduced grant, contributions 

and fee income of £103k.

Adjustment of (£20k) for COVID related lost income on roundabout 

sponsorship and £32k for savings on transport, supplies, etc. 

making a net adjustment of £12k.

TOTAL (411)  

 

 

 

 

Page 111



Appendix 2: Heads Of Service Analysis – Community Protection 

 

  Variance Explanation 

Head of CP 109 £109k overspend due to 20/21 staffing budget increase 

not being funded (regrades/increments) 

Consumer Protection 43 (£35k) underspend on staffing due to vacancies 
£78k underachieved income due to historic bad budget 

Health Protection 61 £46k overspend on staffing mainly due to staff turnover 

saving and agency 
(£8k) underspend on transport and supplies 
£23k underachieved income on Feed project where 

income from Northumberland CC has reduced over the 
years 

Strategic Regulation 22 £22k overspend on staffing due to unachieved turnover 

saving and regrading of post 

Environment Protection (10) (£10k) underspend on transport and supplies 

Neighbourhood 
Interventions 

(67) (£70k) underspend on staffing due to vacancies 
£3k overspend on supplies and services 

Safer Communities (37) (£31k) underspend on staffing due to vacancies 
(£6k) underspend on transport and supplies 

TOTAL 121  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 112



FINANCIAL YEAR 2020/21

QUARTER 1 

NEIGHBOURHOODS & CLIMATE CHANGE

(ENVIRONMENT & SUSTAINABLE COMMUNITIES)

REVENUE & CAPITAL OUTTURN

Phil Curran

Finance Manager

Neighbourhoods & Climate Change 

P
age 113

A
genda Item

 9b



OVERVIEW

 Service Budgets - Background 

 Revenue Forecast Outturn and Variance 
Explanations

 Capital Forecast Outturn and Variance 
Explanations 

P
age 114



ANALYSIS BY HEAD OF SERVICE  

Revised 
Base 

Budget 
2020/21

£’000

Q1 Outturn 
(Apr-Jun)

£’000

Reserves 
& O/s 
Cash 
Limit

£’000

Variance
Over/

(Under)

£’000

Central Costs 33,361 33,211 0 (150)

Environmental Services 50,674 55,133 (4,473) (14)

Technical Services 12,770 15,004 (2,644) (411)

Community Protection 4,281 4,584 (182) 121

Partnerships & Community 
Engagement

7,437 10,777 (3,417) (77)

Overall Total 108,523 118,709 (10,716) (531)

P
age 115



Reasons for variances 

• Overspend on pay regradings £0.403m
• Unachieved MTFP savings £0.240m         
• Highways Additional Surplus   (£0.326m)
• Underspend on new refuse rounds (£0.137m)
• Underspend on new Wardens (£0.154m)
• Underspend on new HWRC contract (£0.346m)
• Underspend on Insurance Costs (£0.150m)
• Miscellaneous Underspends (£0.061m)

--------------
(0.531m

-------------

P
age 116



CAPITAL OUTTURN

Head of Service
Revised 
Budget

£’000
Outturn

£’000
Variance 

£’000

Environmental Services 2,978 2,978 0

Technical Services 32,469 32,469 0

Partnerships & 
Community 
Engagement

5.967 5,967 0

Community Protection 106 106 0

Total 44,631 44,631 0

P
age 117



ANY QUESTIONS?

P
age 118



Environment and Sustainable Communities 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

16 November 2020 

Quarter One, 2020/21 

Performance Management Report  

Ordinary Decision  

 

Report of John Hewitt, Corporate Director of Resources 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To present progress towards achieving the key outcomes of the 
council’s corporate performance framework. 

The impact of COVID-19 

2 A highly infectious virus (SARS-CoV-2) causing respiratory illness 
(COVID-19) spread rapidly across the world during 2020. This resulted 
in a global pandemic being declared by the World Health Organisation 
on 11 March 2020. 

3 Significant restrictions to normal ways of life, travel and business were 
introduced by the government to try to contain the spread of the virus, 
minimise deaths and prevent COVID-19 cases overwhelming our health 
and social care systems.  

4 It was necessary for the Council to adapt and we significantly changed 
our service provision and ways of working. Some services were closed, 
others changed and began to operate remotely. Gold command 
arrangements were activated nationwide to respond to the emergency. 
Locally, this involved the council working in partnership with other 
agencies on the local resilience forum which covers both County 
Durham and Darlington to protect our communities and support those 
affected by the pandemic.  

5 Although our regular quarterly corporate reporting cycle was suspended, 
we are now able to resume quarterly performance reporting with this 
report which combines quarter four, 2019/20 and quarter one, 2020/21. 

 

Page 119

Agenda Item 10



Performance Reporting  

6 This performance report is structured around the three externally 
focused results-based ambitions of the County Durham Vision 2035 
alongside a fourth ‘excellent council’ theme, and also includes an 
overview of the impact of COVID-19 on council services, our staff and 
residents. 

7 The report will be further developed to reflect the reporting requirements 
of the Council Plan 2020-2023 (subject to Cabinet approval in 
September), cultural change resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic, 
COVID-19 Recovery and Restoration, which is likely to run over the 
medium term, and the council’s new senior management structure 
(particularly ‘Regeneration and Economic Growth’ and ‘Neighbourhoods 
and Climate Change’). 

8 These changes will commence from quarter three onwards to align with 
new corporate planning arrangements and developments in business 
analytics.  

Connected Communities – Sustainable Communities focus 

9 Actions aimed at controlling the spread of COVID-19 have brought 
about unexpected consequences. The sudden, significant drop in 
carbon emissions as businesses closed and people stayed at home. 
The reduction in road traffic has also led to improvements in air quality, 
a reduction in environmental noise and the more visible wildlife. 
Negative impacts of COVID-19 include increased waste and reduced 
recycling. These changes are mirrored across County Durham. 

10 Most council services falling under this ambition showed a significant 
decrease in demand during quarter one. Exceptions were reports of fly-
tips and smoke from garden fires – issues which are being addressed 
through multi-agency problem solving.  

Risk Management 

11 Effective risk management is a vital component of the council’s agenda. 
The council’s risk management process sits alongside our change 
programme and is incorporated into all significant change and 
improvement projects.  

12 There are no key risks in delivering the objectives of this ambition.  

 

 

  

Page 120

https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/30079/Durham-2035-Vision-document/pdf/Durham2035-Vision2.pdf?m=637232373293700000


Recommendation 

13 That Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee considers the overall position and direction of travel in 
relation to quarter one performance, the impact of COVID-19 on 
performance, and the actions being taken to address areas of 
underperformance including the significant economic and well-being 
challenges because of the pandemic. 

 

Author 

Jenny Haworth      Tel:  03000 268071 

 

 

  

Page 121



Appendix 1:  Implications  

Legal Implications 

Not applicable. 

Finance 

Latest performance information is being used to inform corporate, service and 

financial planning. 

Consultation 

Not applicable. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Equality measures are monitored as part of the performance monitoring 

process. 

Climate Change 

We have declared a climate change emergency and consider the implications 

of climate change in our reports and decision-making. 

Human Rights 

Not applicable. 

Crime and Disorder 

A number of performance indicators and key actions relating to crime and 

disorder are continually monitored in partnership with Durham Constabulary. 

Staffing 

Performance against a number of relevant corporate health indicators has 

been included to monitor staffing issues. 

Accommodation 

Not applicable. 

Risk 

Reporting of significant risks and their interaction with performance is 

integrated into the quarterly performance management report. 

Procurement 

Not applicable. 

Page 122



 

 

 

 

 

Durham County Council 

Performance Management 

Report 
 

Quarter One, 2020/21 
 

Appendix 2 

Page 123



Connected Communities - Sustainability 

1 The ambition of Connected Communities – Sustainability is linked to the 

following key questions: 

(a) How clean and tidy is my local environment? 

(b) Are we reducing carbon emissions and adapting to climate 

change? 

(c) How effective and sustainable is our collection and disposal of 

waste? 

 

How clean and tidy is my local environment? 

2 Although there was a significant decrease in enviro-crime reports during 

lockdown, there was an increase in fly-tipping; mainly black bags, old 

furniture, fridges and other household items, predominantly across 

Bishop Auckland, Coundon, Crook, Ferryhill, Pelton, Shildon and Dene 

Valley.  

3 The most recent fly-tipping benchmarking data (2018/19), shows that 

County Durham has a lower number of incidents per 1,000 hectares (33) 

compared to England (81) and the North East (73). This is an 

improvement in County Durham on the 2017/18 benchmarking position 

(34 incidents per 1,000 hectares), in contrast to the England and North 

East rates which have increased over the same period. A similar picture 

is seen in relation to the rate per 1,000 population where the County 

Durham position has decreased from 15 incidents per 1,000 population 

to 14 in 2018/19; and is again lower than England (19) and North East 

(24).  

4 During quarter one, in response to reports of fly-tipping and 

contaminated bins in Ferryhill and Shildon, we carried out site visits and 

monthly walkabouts which involved the local Councillor, Community 

Protection and the Private Landlords Team. 

5 Throughout June, we addressed arson and fly-tipping at North East 

Industrial Estate (Peterlee) through a multi-agency problem solving 

initiative. We carried out site visits with partners and tenants/owners of 

units on the estate over several weeks. We are removing waste from all 

our sites and will locate two CCTV cameras on the industrial estate. 

Page 124



6 During quarter one, 302 reports of bonfires were recorded, a 175% 

increase on the same period last year. Most reports occurred in April 

and related to smoke from garden fires.  

7 During quarter one, we received 731 reports of untidy gardens, a 27% 

reduction on same period last year. 

Are we reducing carbon emissions and adapting to climate 

change?  

8 Latest carbon emission figures for County Durham show a 1.1 

percentage point improvement overall. Figures have a significant lag 

and relate to 2018, which is before we declared a Climate Change 

Emergency. Emissions are measured against the 1990 baseline and 

latest figures show reductions in all categories: Industrial/Commercial (-

74%); Domestic (-40%); Transport (-1%). In addition, we saw a sudden 

and significant drop in carbon emissions during COVID-19 lockdown as 

road traffic reduced and businesses temporarily closed, the extent of this 

has not yet been measured and it is not yet clear if any of the changes 

will see a long lasting impact.  

How effective and sustainable is our collection and disposal of 

waste?  

9 As our Household Waste Recycling Centres (HWRCs) closed early in 

lockdown and were unable to operate as usual once they re-opened on 

18 May, they recycled less waste than usual during quarter one. 

However, early indications show an increased tonnage of waste, both 

residual and recycling, was collected at the kerbside during quarter one. 

We are currently assessing how this will affect our overall recycling 

rate1. 

10 During quarter one, an increased number of households signed up to 

the garden waste scheme. This could be attributed to the HWRCs being 

closed and people spending more time in their gardens. 

                                         
1 waste data is reported a quarter in arrears, so the latest reported data is 31-Mar-20 

Page 125



CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SUSTAINABILITY  

(a) How clean and tidy is my local environment? 
(b) Are we reducing carbon emissions and adapting to climate 

change? 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

D
u
ri
n

g
 q

u
a

rt
e

r 
1

 20 cameras 
deployed

9 incidents 
caught on 

CCTV

1 stop and search 
operations

3 duty of care 
warning letters

0 producers 
issued

482 further 
investigations

0 prosecutions

21 FPNs

Number of reported and responded to fly-tipping incidents 

(12 month rolling trend) 

7,782
7,507

7,941

7,052 7,146

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21

1,635 

tonnes  

CO2 saved by 

SMEs 

74% drop from Industrial/ Commercial 

40% drop from Domestic 

1% drop from Transport 

(c) How effective and sustainable is our collection and 

disposal of waste? 

41% household waste 

reused, recycled or composted* 

 1.2pp on same period 

last year 

98% diverted from 

landfill* 

 5.5pp on same 

period last year 

27.7%
29.0%

31.0% 30.9%
29.4% 29.4% 28.5% 28.9% 30.0%

25%

30%

35%

% of waste collected for recycling identified as 

contaminated (12 months ending)* 

 

302 bonfire incidents between Apr-Jun 2020

175% increase from same period last year

Reduction in carbon emissions 

(from 1990 baseline) 

 

 

*Waste data is reported a quarter in arrears, so the latest reported data is 31-Mar-20 

P
age 126



Key Performance Indicators – Data Tables (Quarter One 2020/21) 

There are two types of performance indicators throughout this document: 

(a) Key target indicators – targets are set as improvements can be measured regularly and can be actively influenced by the council and its 
partners; and 

(b) Key tracker indicators – performance is tracked but no targets are set as they are long-term and/or can only be partially influenced by the 
council and its partners.   

A guide is available which provides full details of indicator definitions and data sources for the 2019/20 corporate indicator set. This is available to 
view either internally from the intranet or can be requested from the Strategy Team at performance@durham.gov.uk 

KEY TO SYMBOLS 

  Direction of travel  Benchmarking  Performance against target 

GREEN  Same or better than comparable period  Same or better than comparable group  Meeting or exceeding target 

AMBER  Worse than comparable period 
(within 2% tolerance) 

 Worse than comparable group  
(within 2% tolerance) 

 Performance within 2% of target 

RED  Worse than comparable period  
(greater than 2%) 

 Worse than comparable group  
(greater than 2%) 

 Performance >2% behind target 

 
National Benchmarking 
We compare our performance to all English authorities. The number of authorities varies according to the performance indicator and functions of 
councils, for example educational attainment is compared to county and unitary councils however waste disposal is compared to district and unitary 
councils. 
 
North East Benchmarking 
The North East figure is the average performance from the authorities within the North East region, i.e. County Durham, Darlington, Gateshead, 
Hartlepool, Middlesbrough, Newcastle upon Tyne, North Tyneside, Northumberland, Redcar and Cleveland, Stockton-On-Tees, South Tyneside, 
Sunderland.  
 
More detail is available from the Strategy Team at performance@durham.gov.uk 
  

P
age 127

mailto:performance@durham.gov.uk
mailto:performance@durham.gov.uk


CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SUSTAINABILITY 

How clean and tidy is my local environment?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

95 
% of relevant land and highways 
assessed as having deposits of litter 
that fall below an acceptable level  

6.64 2019/20 
Tracker 6.24    

 No 
N/a AMBER    

96 

% of relevant land and highways 
assessed as having deposits of 
detritus that fall below an acceptable 
level  

14.17 2019/20 
Tracker 12.61    

 No 
N/a AMBER    

97 

% of relevant land and highways 
assessed as having deposits of dog 
fouling that fall below an acceptable 
level 

0.98 2019/20 
Tracker 1.08    

 No 
N/a GREEN    

98 Number of fly-tipping incidents 7,146 
Jul 2019- 
Jun 2020 

Tracker 7,052     

Yes 
N/a AMBER    

*not directly comparable 

 

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES - SUSTAINABILITY 

Are we reducing carbon emissions and adapting to climate change?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

99 
% reduction in CO₂ emissions in 
County Durham (by 40% by 2020 and 
55% by March 2031) 

55.2 2018 
Tracker 54    

 Yes 
N/a GREEN    

100 
% change in CO₂ emissions from local 
authority operations 

-7 2018/19 

Tracker -9    

 No 
N/a RED    

P
age 128



101 
% of municipal waste diverted from 
landfill 

97.8 2019/20 
95 95.3 87.3 92 32.2 

2017/18 Yes 
GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

102 
% of household waste that is re-used, 
recycled or composted 

41.1 2019/20 
Tracker 42.3 43.2 34.5  

2017/18 Yes 
N/a AMBER AMBER GREEN  

 

Other relevant performance indicators  

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SUSTAINABILITY 

Is it easy to travel around the county? 

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 
months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

110 
% of A roads where maintenance is 
recommended  

2.6 2018 
Tracker 2.6 3 2 3 

2018 No 
N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN AMBER 

111 
% of B and C roads where 
maintenance is recommended  

4.7 2018 
Tracker 4.7 6 3 4 

2018 No 
N/a GREEN GREEN AMBER AMBER 

112 
% of unclassified roads where 
maintenance is recommended  

21 2018 
Tracker 20 17 16 18 

2018 No 
N/a AMBER RED RED RED 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 129



Key Performance Indicators – Data Tables (Quarter Four 2019/20) 

There are two types of performance indicators throughout this document: 

(c) Key target indicators – targets are set as improvements can be measured regularly and can be actively influenced by the council and its 
partners; and 

(d) Key tracker indicators – performance is tracked but no targets are set as they are long-term and/or can only be partially influenced by the 
council and its partners.   

A guide is available which provides full details of indicator definitions and data sources for the 2019/20 corporate indicator set. This is available to 
view either internally from the intranet or can be requested from the Strategy Team at performance@durham.gov.uk 

KEY TO SYMBOLS 

  Direction of travel  Benchmarking  Performance against target 

GREEN  Same or better than comparable period  Same or better than comparable group  Meeting or exceeding target 

AMBER  Worse than comparable period 
(within 2% tolerance) 

 Worse than comparable group  
(within 2% tolerance) 

 Performance within 2% of target 

RED  Worse than comparable period  
(greater than 2%) 

 Worse than comparable group  
(greater than 2%) 

 Performance >2% behind target 

 
National Benchmarking 
We compare our performance to all English authorities. The number of authorities varies according to the performance indicator and functions of 
councils, for example educational attainment is compared to county and unitary councils however waste disposal is compared to district and unitary 
councils. 
 
North East Benchmarking 
The North East figure is the average performance from the authorities within the North East region, i.e. County Durham, Darlington, Gateshead, 
Hartlepool, Middlesbrough, Newcastle upon Tyne, North Tyneside, Northumberland, Redcar and Cleveland, Stockton-On-Tees, South Tyneside, 
Sunderland.  
 
More detail is available from the Strategy Team at performance@durham.gov.uk 

  

P
age 130

mailto:performance@durham.gov.uk
mailto:performance@durham.gov.uk


CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SUSTAINABILITY 

How clean and tidy is my local environment?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

95 
% of relevant land and highways 
assessed as having deposits of litter 
that fall below an acceptable level  

6.64 2019/20 
Tracker 6.24    

 Yes 
N/a AMBER    

96 

% of relevant land and highways 
assessed as having deposits of 
detritus that fall below an acceptable 
level  

14.17 2019/20 
Tracker 12.61    

 Yes 
N/a AMBER    

97 

% of relevant land and highways 
assessed as having deposits of dog 
fouling that fall below an acceptable 
level 

0.98 2019/20 
Tracker 1.08    

 Yes 
N/a GREEN    

98 Number of fly-tipping incidents 6,458 2019/20 
Tracker 7,269     

Yes 
N/a GREEN    

*not directly comparable 

 

 

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SUSTAINABILITY 

Are we reducing carbon emissions and adapting to climate change?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

99 
% reduction in CO₂ emissions in 
County Durham (by 40% by 2020 and 
55% by March 2031) 

54 2017 
Tracker 52.3    

 No 
N/a GREEN    

100 
% change in CO₂ emissions from local 
authority operations 

-7 2018/19 
Tracker -9    

 No 
N/a RED    

P
age 131



101 
% of municipal waste diverted from 
landfill 

97.8 2019 
95 96.3 87.3 92 96.1 Q4 

2018/19 
Yes 

GREEN AMBER GREEN GREEN GREEN 

102 
% of household waste that is re-used, 
recycled or composted 

41.2 2019 
Tracker 42.4 43.2 34.5  

2017/18 Yes 
N/a AMBER AMBER GREEN  

 

Other relevant performance indicators  

 

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SUSTAINABILITY 

Is it easy to travel around the county? 

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 
months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

110 
% of A roads where maintenance is 
recommended  

2.6 2018 
Tracker 2.6 3 2 3 

2018 No 
N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN AMBER 

111 
% of B and C roads where 
maintenance is recommended  

4.7 2018 
Tracker 4.7 6 3 4 

2018 No 
N/a GREEN GREEN AMBER AMBER 

112 
% of unclassified roads where 
maintenance is recommended  

21 2018 
Tracker 20 17 16 18 

2018 No 
N/a AMBER RED RED RED 

 

P
age 132



 Page 1 of 7 

 
 

 
County Durham Environment Partnership Board  

Minutes  
 
 

Wednesday, 11th March 2020 
The Lantern Room, Town Hall, Durham 

 
 
Attendees:     
 Oliver Sherratt (Chair) (OS) -  Direct Services, DCC 
 Jim Cokill (JC)   -  Durham Wildlife Trust 
 Steve Bhowmick (SB)   -  Chair, Coastal, Heritage and  
                                                                            Landscapes Group 
Peter Samsom (PS)   -  DCA – Food Durham  
Kathryn Athey (KA)   -  Partnerships, DCC 
Lyndsey Waters (LW)  -  Durham County Council                  
Lawry Cook (LC)   -  Environment Agency 
Gordon Elliott (GE)   -  Partnerships,DCC     
Vicky Burrell (VB)   -  Strategic Waste, DCC                                          
 Angela Brown (Minutes) (AB) -  Secretariat, Partnerships, DCC 
 

Apologies    
Corinne Walton (CW)  -  Area Action Partnership, DCC 
Katharine Birsdall (KB)   -  Environment Agency 
   

Item 
No. 

 
Subject 

 

 
Action By 

1. Welcome and Introductions 
OS welcomed everyone to the meeting and 

initiated round table introductions. 

 

 
 

2. Minutes and Matters Arising 
All actions were agreed as a true record of the 
meeting. 
 
Matters arising: 

 Page 3 – questionnaires were sent out 

 Environment Awards is on agenda for today 

 Portfolio to plant trees in every school in the 
county – easy wins not every schools have 
challenges  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 133

Agenda Item 11



 Page 2 of 7 

 Urban Tree Challenge – finished the first phase 
yesterday – mixed trees mostly large.  Next 
season will be doing smaller trees also 

 
 

 

3.  Environment Awards 2020 Options 
SB updated the Board members.  The paper was circulated 
in advance of this meeting so hopefully everyone has had 
the opportunity to look through the paper. Looking to pin 
down the event for this coming autumn.  We want to ensure 
that this coming season is as successful as 2019 awards 
for 30th anniversary.  We felt that the Venue was adequate 
for needs. The date that we have pencilled for this is 22nd 
October this year.  The date is in the Chairman and 
leader’s diary and have provisionally booked venue. 
Comments that have been back are aligning the ceremony 
with the Strategic Partnership Event themed around 
Climate and the Environment.  We are open to views to pull 
the Env Awards back into November.   
The following points were about the venue itself we felt 
Hardwick Hall is very good offers good service and has 
ample parking available, it offers value for money.  
Hardwick would definitely be preference for venue. 
Bishop Auckland Town Hall was suggested – this is 
accessible from town centre and has parking around it and 
could also use the Council Tech team so this would be 
possible fall back or an alternate 
It was suggested that innovation and new things coming 
forward should be given recognition in own right.  Another 
option would be to incorporate innovation category into 
sustainability award as we should be looking at new ways 
to do things. 
The Youth Council – it was felt that it would be good to 
engage the Youth Ambassadors in the judging panel. 
We are asking for decision going forward and refer to the 
table on the back of the report. 
If we were to buy in Tech Support there would be an extra 
£2000 cost at Hardwick or Radisson, for Bishop Town Hall 
we would use our internal team so there would be no extra 
cost. 
SB concluded that last year was a big event.  Have £1700 
committed that will move forward and Authority has put in 
global figure of £5000 so now have £6700 in pot ready to 
go before sponsors come in and we have two or three big 
sponsors, so it looks healthy.  I feel that given where we 
are the preference would be to hold the event at Hardwick.  
Could look at Bishop Auckland as a fall back. 
OS felt it would be useful for Gordon to update on his item 
before comments are made. 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4. County Durham Partnership Environment Event 
GE discussed the County Durham Partnership Annual 
Event.  This event replaced the Big Tent event.  He 
mentioned that in previous years had invited Cormac 
Russel as guest speaker.  Cllr Henig as Leader of the CDP 
will open the event.  Last year the focus was Culture and 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 134



 Page 3 of 7 

Arts with it been the year of culture. Had keynote 
presentations and workshops followed by food.  Last year 
we held the event at Durham Cricket Ground and used our 
internal team, but we had to use Cricket Club equipment.  
We are looking this year to have a focus on Environment 
and the Climate Emergency Plan. It would be up to the 
service to come up with key suggestions for 
names/speakers and has been suggested the possibility of 
combing with Environment Awards.  We could maybe help 
with budget as partnership has budget for event.  Need 
thoughts and suggestions and ideas for keynote speakers: 
 
OS split this into 3 sections: 

 Do we want an Environment themed event? 

 If yes do, we link to Environment Awards 

 Where would you want the event to be held 
 
PS felt that Environment never gets into the spotlight so it 
would be very beneficial and felt now is the time around the 
big agenda on carbon reductions – need to engage with 
wider community industries 
 
JC mentioned that we need to be aware of links.  Matt 
Baker maybe a good person for this.  He felt sponsorship 
should be separate from the Environment Awards. Could 
have a few key speakers but would make dates harder.   
PS gave examples for possible workshops – 
households/small businesses/farming.  He felt collectively 
we can push this as its is not just the responsibility of the 
Council. 
 
OS said it was quite clear that we all have agreed that 
Environment would be great theme for the event.  The next 
steps would be a group being pulled together and would be 
looking from support from yourselves going forward to 
make the links, there would be joint effort around the 
themes. 
 
OS asked if would like this event to be linked to 
Environment Awards – Yes it might link to awards, the 
downside would be that it could be tiring by the time it 
comes to the end of the night.   
SB felt that alignment and cohabitation is really excelling 
but we need to be clear about total cohabitation with the 
two events.  We struggle every year to get everyone there 
as the capacity is very tight and this would be two specific 
audiences.  It would be very challenging to co stage event 
in the same venue as this is two very different events so 
would have different audience of people.   
 
It was suggested having the CDP Event the day after the 
night of the Environment Awards. 
 
OS asked in relation to looking for speakers and checking 
for availability how soon do we need to book the venue?  
SB felt it needs to be decided in next 4-6 weeks as the 
venues fill up quickly, therefore we need direction today.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 135



 Page 4 of 7 

OS asked if the two events where linked the preference for 
venue would be Hardwick Hall where people could stay 
over with the events in one venue.  But also moving venue 
could be a good idea also.  SB felt that Bishop Auckland 
Town Hall is great, but it is Town Hall   Civic Building 
tucked upon1st floor above the library. 
 
Public transport needs to be accessible and we need to be 
offering it 
 
OS concluded that there was an agreement to have an 
Environment themed Event and GE will set up a group.  
There was also a suggestion to look at the Gala Theatre for 
the event.  Hardwick Hall is the preference for Environment 
Awards.   
 
SB mentioned that he will take back to looking at Hardwick 
as a strong option and SB will liaise with GE in relation to 
dates for events.  JC mentioned that he would like to be 
involved in group looking at initial ideas 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
GE 
 
 
 
SB 
 
 
 
 

5.  Sustainable Local Food Strategy 
PS gave a presentation on Sustainable Local Food 
Strategy and mentioned that they are looking to review this 
to try and engage more people and set new priorities that 
reflect the changing context:  

• Emphasis on climate change and the role of our 
food and diet 

• Concern about food waste 
• National food strategy development 
• Rising health inequalities 
• Policy changes 

Helping to deliver reductions in carbon emissions for the 
food system: 

• Urban street tree replacements, including urban fruit 
trees 

• Green infrastructure, reduced mowing and urban 
rewilding 

• Maximising carbon storage in land (e.g. allotments) 
• Consider how soil conservation, soil regenerative 

farming and agro-ecology can be promoted with 
farmers and landowners 

• Increase the proportion of local food grown and sold 
in the county  

• Food waste and composting – behaviour change 
and collections 

• Sustainable procurement guidance on carbon 
reduction 

PS mentioned that he is working closely with VB team on 
waste reduction and public health team but mentioned that 
any board members we welcome to be part of this. 
He proposed to bring some responses together and put 
them in as actions for the new food strategy. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 136



 Page 5 of 7 

He will be meeting with Helen Grayshan from Carbon 
Projects to look at how can move things forward. 

Next steps: 

• Translate actions from Climate Emergency 
Response into Food Strategy 

• Discuss project development with Low Carbon 
Team 

• More conversations and consultations April – Jun 
•  Aim to launch early Autumn 2020 

OS thanked PS  

Questions/Comments 

GE mentioned that in terms of development of the strategy 
a good route would be the County Durham Partnership as 
the County Council are really positive in making that 
happen.  Possibility would be to present to HWB and CDEP 
Boards as would be keen for this to be taken through. 

SB also suggested that it could be a good breakout session 
for the event as it’s a good community event.  Supporting 
local economy by buying local. 

OS welcomed this potentially going to other thematic 
groups to raise awareness that its been developed 

PS will link with GE 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PS 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PS & GE 

6. Climate Emergency Plan  
A full report went to Durham County Council Cabinet and 
received emergency response plan in early February as 
well as existing schemes.  Financial arguments for energy 
efficiencies measures 13m and a pot of £50m that we are 
trying to access. Will support addition for £3m for schemes 
to push climate change work. The plan was a starter of 
what the Council can do and what measures can be done 
with partners to help fulfil wider ambitions 
The Council will use building on schemes as well as 
supporting renewables.  Will build forward own work with 
fleet to turnover to electric vehicles.  Overseeing the 
governance of that is the Carbon Board, all Councils will 
have their own internal groups also.  Project Management 
will be aligned to it.  It seems to be all working fine the 
bigger challenge is contributing to wider County Durham 
work.  An idea of projects are: 

 350,000 extra trees that will be planted 

 Supporting peatland restoration and heritage 
coast with kelp projects 

 Less developed supporting electric charging 
structure 

 Building further on the success with BEEP 
project  

 Community Investment Fund  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 137



 Page 6 of 7 

  Housing Colleagues to support homes to 
reduce energy consumption through heat 
pumps etc 

So, there is still a lot to be developed in plans.  It is 
expected that this group will take on the broader 
partnership of Climate, to influence. This was recognised in 
the CDP Review so going forward this group will be seen 
as Environment & Climate Change. 
OS mentioned that because of extra work in his core post 
he was signalling that this meeting will be his last meeting 
as Chair of the Environment Partnership, he took on the 
role 4 years ago as interim chair and always intended to 
step down when the timing was right to do so.  After a 
discussion with JC it was agreed that Jim would take on the 
chairing role 
 
Questions/Comments 
GE thanked OS for chairing the meetings over the last four 
years praised him for the great job he had done.  And 
suggested that it may be worth considering Alan Patrickson 
as a future rep for the meeting as Alan will start his new 
post on 1st April and will be leading on the Climate Change 
agenda. 
SB thanked OS for keeping the Environment Profile going.   
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

7. Updates from Group Chairs  
Coastal, Heritage & Landscape Group 
The next meeting will be held tomorrow.  
At the last meeting we talked about Landscape work 
that is going on Townscape Big project in Seaham 
Townscape for Heritage.  2m English Heritage, 
Coordinator Julie Anderson came to talk about this.  
Looking to start a heritage trail.  Activity plans 
training around that physical fund to update features 
of shop fronts to give more profile.   
 
The Woodland Revival Project in Durham City is 
going to bring new project manager, Charles 
Foreman will be joining in mid-April and will be keen 
to work with the Board. 
 
Breaking news – given the success of 2.7m from 
Lottery for seascapes round 2 bids.  Great reflection 
of hard work for Niall Benson team.  Setting up new 
team to deliver this.  5 authorities involved from Tyne 
to Tees.  Doing press release now.  Some exciting 
work is expected and will update at a later date. 

 
  

Environment in Your Communities 
PS mentioned that they have struggled with 
attendance with Environment in Communities Group 
over the last few months 
Environment Volunteering is working very well, and 
opportunities are highlighted and voluntary groups 
wider opposed are being spread around the county 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 138



 Page 7 of 7 

which is good practicing that can be shared.  The 
link for this is Abbi Thompson 
Colleague Hannah and VB and team are working on 
a partnership project around food waste this is 
developing slowly but in the right direction 

 
Chair Update 
OS – launched all big spring clean events and 
coronavirus hasn’t given reason to cancel those 
events yet 
CDP Update – The Partnership are reviewing 
branding and will be confirming which thematic 
groups would be heading towards being retained.  
Secondly the opportunity to review the CDP 
Performance Indicators so will need to select most 
important to us. 
Coronavirus – nothing other than what is already in 
the public domain.  Cllr Henig is keen to have AAP 
Events in the summer.  The Forum meetings is an 
opportunity to do this 
 

8. Environment Partnership Communications 
LW mentioned that there is a new designer in 
Design and Print  
If anyone has any comments can you, please let 
LW know ASAP 
 
SB will feed in on Tree Challenge and OS will 
feedback by next Wednesday 

 

 
 
 
ALL 
 
 
SB &OS 
 
 

9. AOB 
VB mentioned that it is World Environment Day on 5th June 
and Environment activities will be taking place.  The theme 
is beat plastic pollution.  Over 250 schools have signed up 
to plastic pledge.  Trying to get the message out by using 
Eco brick made from single use plastic  
 
Expecting round 2 of DEFRA consultation and are 
expecting a radical reform for waste policy.  Round two will 
be delayed until the summer once its live responses will be 
sent. 
 
OS thanked everyone for attending today 

 

 

11. Date and time of next meeting:  
17th June 2020, 10.00am, Town Hall, Durham 
 

 

 

  
  

  

Page 139



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting held on 3 September 2020
	6a Report of Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and Climate Change
	6b Presentation by Head of Environment
	7a Report of Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and Climate Change
	7b Presentation by Neighbourhood Protection Manager and Bereavement Services Manager
	8a Report of Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and Climate Change
	8b Presentation by Head of Environment
	9a Report of the Corporate Director of Resources
	9b Presentation by the Finance Manager - Neighbourhoods and Climate Change
	10 Performance Management 2020/2021 Quarter One - Report of Corporate Director of Resources
	11 County Durham Environment Partnership Minutes from the meeting on 11 March 2020

